A.S. CRÉATION: KEY FIGURES

		

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Sales

¤ '000

132,114

145,320

152,373

167,633

176,216

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

¤ '000

12,674

14,842

13,747

15,005

13,502

Earnings before income taxes

¤ '000

10,996

12,978

12,672

14,562

12,856

Net profit

¤ '000

6,610

7,744

10,174

9,982

8,925

Cash-flow

¤ '000

13,882

16,033

16,199

17,926

18,058

Capital expenditures

¤ '000

6,248

8,919

7,443

11,232

23,893

Depreciation

¤ '000

7,714

8,168

7,985

8,397

8,215

Non-current assets

¤ '000

49,718

51,510

51,860

54,007

65,561

Shareholders' equity

¤ '000

59,984

64,799

71,485

76,901

83,128

Non-current liabilities

¤ '000

29,269

27,219

24,385

27,922

43,531

Total assets

¤ '000

108,924

111,047

116,298

124,557

163,928

Earnings per share

¤ /share

2.37

2.78

3.65

3.59

3.22

Dividend

¤ /share

1.05

1.25

1.65

1.60

1.40

646

654

653

675

719

Number of employees (average) 		
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Foreword

Dear readers, dear shareholders,

Group sales increased by 11.4% in the first
six months of the year, they were 1.1% below
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In fiscal 2008, A.S. Création again boosted its

the previous year’s level in the second half of

sales revenues to a new record level and thus

the year. This unexpected change came at a

consolidated its leading position in the European

highly unfavourable time for A.S. Création, as

wallpaper market. The company meanwhile

four-shift operation had been introduced in

accounts for about one third (32%) of the

some production segments in June 2008 and

domestic and international sales generated

an additional printing press was taken into

by German wallpaper manufacturers. In the

service in July. Both measures were designed

second half of 2008, we had to acknowledge,

to meet the increased global demand for our

however, that A.S. Création, too, is affected

products at the time the decisions were taken.

by the deterioration in the overall economic

In the wake of the financial crisis, sales declined

situation.

noticeably in major Western European export
markets such as France and England but also

A.S. Création’s consolidated sales increased

in countries such as Russia and Ukraine. As a

by 5.1% from ¤ 167.6 million in the previous

result, the situation of A.S. Création changed

year to ¤ 176.2 million. Both divisions again

fundamentally virtually over night. Following

contributed to the increase in sales, with the

a phase of insufficient production capacity,

Wallpaper Division again achieving a higher

A.S. Création was suddenly faced with unu-

growth rate (+5.6%) than the Furnishing Fabrics

tilised capacity. In the second half of 2008,

Division (+1.9%). It was good to see that not

production was scaled down through employ-

only international sales increased but that

ees taking overtime and accumulated leave.

domestic sales also picked up. The Managing

Four-shift operation was discontinued as of

Board believes that the 7.0 % increase in

December 31, 2008.

domestic sales is attributable to the market
success of our products and concepts.

The slower sales growth in conjunction with
increased commodity and energy prices weighed

The record sales generated in 2008 should not

on earnings in 2008. While we were able to

conceal the fact that we failed to reach our

partly offset the higher burdens through better

sales target of ¤ 185 million. This was due to

pricing and changes in the product mix, we

the effects of the global financial crisis, which

had to accept a decline in the gross profit

had a sustained adverse impact on our perfor-

margin from 45.7% in the previous year to

mance in the second half of 2008. While

44.9% in 2008. A.S. Création’s earnings before

Foreword

interest and taxes (EBIT) for the year 2008

¤ 45.50 to ¤ 17.93 in the course of the year,

totalled ¤ 13.5 million, which was 10.0%

which represents a loss of 60.6%. The com-

below the previous year’s ¤ 15.0 million. The

pany thus underperformed the SDAX, which

EBIT margin amounted to 7.7% (previous year:

lost 46.1% in 2008.

9.0%). Although this decline is certainly not
satisfactory, the Management Board regards

In the economically turbulent year 2008, the

the result achieved as positive against the

Managing Board again took important decisions

background of the financial and economic

to expand the international market position of

crisis in the second half of 2008.

A.S. Création and improve the company’s future prospects. These included the takeover of

At ¤ 8.9 million, net profit for the year was also

two wallpaper wholesalers in France and the

below the previous year’s level of ¤ 10.0 million.

foundation of a joint venture in Russia.

This means that we did not reach our projections for the fiscal year, which provided for

In December 2008, A.S. Création (France) SAS

a net profit of between ¤ 10.5 million and

acquired majority interests in the two leading

¤ 11.0 million.

French wholesalers, SCE SA and MCF Investissements SA. In 2008, SCE and MCF generated

The Managing Board will propose to the General

consolidated sales of approx. ¤ 44 million

Meeting of Shareholders on May 5, 2009 to

and currently employ about 94 people. France

pay out a dividend of ¤ 1.40 per share from

is the largest wallpaper market in Western

the profit for the year 2008. This represents a

Europe and is therefore of special importance

payout ratio of 43.5% based on earnings per

to A.S. Création. The Managing Board of A.S.

share of ¤ 3.22. With this high payout ratio,

Création is of the opinion that the customer

A.S. Création continues its dividend policy of

structures of A.S. Création (France), SCE and

giving its shareholders a share in the company’s

MCF ideally complement each other, which

performance and again lives up to its reputa-

means that the takeover will clearly strengthen

tion as a high-dividend company. The perform-

A.S. Création’s position in the French market.

ance of the A.S. Création share failed to satisfy

The companies will retain their respective

the shareholders in the course of 2008. After

identities after the takeover.

the excellent performance in 2007, the share
was unable to isolate itself from the general

In August 2008, A.S. Création Tapeten AG and

downward trend in the stock markets. The

Kof Palitra, Russia’s leading wallpaper manu-

price of the A.S. Création share declined from

facturer, established a 50:50 joint venture. The

9
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joint venture will produce higher-quality wall-

we developed the first SCHÖNER WOHNEN wall-

papers for the Eastern European market and

paper collection in cooperation with Gruner

the Russian market, in particular. The wall-

+ Jahr. For many years, SCHÖNER WOHNEN

papers will be marketed under the “A.S. Création“

has been the leading home interest magazine

brand name. Russia is the world’s largest

in Germany and a household name for taste-

wallpaper market and a key output market for

ful interior design. Accordingly, the collection

A.S. Création. The installation of local produc-

met with an excellent response when it was

tion capacity and the cooperation with the

launched in the fourth quarter of 2008. An

leading Russian wallpaper manufacturer will

intelligent market concept for the point of

improve A.S. Création’s position in this impor-

sale ideally transports the brand to consum-

tant market.

ers. A.S. Création regards this cooperation as
an-other step to protect its leading position in

On a positive note, the trend towards patterned

the German market.

wallpapers continued in 2008. This trend bene10

fits A.S. Création, as we have a unique product

While A.S. Création closed the year 2008 with

range and access to high creative potential

a satisfactory overall result – in spite of the

within our Group. At the same time, fashion

difficult economic environment – the start to

tastes in the individual markets are becoming

the fiscal year 2009 was clearly unfavourable.

increasingly similar, allowing for a more inter-

In the meantime, the financial crisis has clearly

national design policy. Whereas a typically

infected the real economy. In the first weeks

French wallpaper, for instance, would have

of January, A.S. Création saw incoming orders

been impossible to sell in many other countries

decline by approx. 20%, as many foreign (es-

a few years ago, consumers in France, the UK,

pecially Eastern European) customers scaled

the Netherlands and Germany today appreciate

down their wallpaper orders to maintain their

the same patterns and colours. This trend will

liquidity. Moreover, the massive depreciation

strengthen the market position of international

of the Eastern European currencies against

brands, thus benefiting A.S. Création, which

the euro has made A.S. Création’s wallpapers

has a broad international presence.

much more expensive in these markets. In
view of this slump in demand, the Managing

In fiscal 2008, we managed to integrate an-

Board and the Staff Council of A.S. Création

other top brand into the brand portfolio of

Tapeten AG agreed to introduce short-time

A.S. Création. Building on the great success of

working from February 1, 2009. At this stage,

the ESPRIT home licensed collection since 2006,

it is difficult to predict the effects that the

Foreword

crisis will have on A.S. Création in fiscal 2009,

the A.S. Création Group in December 2008.

as neither the actual extent of the crisis nor

As a result of these takeovers, the headcount

its duration can be reliably estimated by the

of the A.S. Création Group currently stands

Managing Board. The coming months will

at 821.

show whether further cuts will be required in
addition to the measures described above.

My thanks also go to our shareholders for their
confidence and their support. Even if the per-

The Managing Board is convinced, however,

formance of our share in the past year was

that the above problems are not specific to

not satisfactory, you can rest reassured that

A.S. Création but affect all major wallpaper

your company is well positioned to master

manufacturers. If the crisis lasts longer, the

the upcoming challenges. We have the right

existing overcapacity will – similar to the past –

team and the right brands, concepts and ideas

lead to increased competition, which may

to turn the anticipated consolidation process

accelerate the consolidation process in the

into a positive milestone for A.S. Création.
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international wallpaper industry. A.S. Création
will do everything in its power to emerge from

I would be pleased if you continued to support

the crisis stronger. We will remain committed

our company on this challenging and exciting

to expanding the market position of our com-

journey.

pany based on good brands, good concepts
and a large number of innovations. We are

Gummersbach, March 2009

convinced that we are on the right track to
realising our vision of making A.S. Création
the world’s leading wallpaper manufacturer.
Nevertheless, our outlook on the current fiscal year is not as optimistic as in the previous
year.
I would like to use this opportunity to thank all
employees of A.S. Création for their commitment and ideas in the past fiscal year. I would
also like to welcome the new employees
of SCE - Société de conception et d’édition
SA and MCF Investissements SA, who joined

Jörn Kämper

MANAGING BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD

Managing Board
Jörn Kämper
Chairman
Sales and Marketing
Maik Holger Krämer
Finance and Controlling
Bernhard Wagner
Production
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MANAGING BOARD
AND SUPERVISORY BOARD

Supervisory Board
Franz Jürgen Schneider 1),2),3)
Chairman
Dr. Rüdiger Liebs 1),2)
Vice Chairman
Jella Susanne Benner-Heinacher 3)
Peter Mourschinetz
Employee representative
Dr. Dieter Schadt 1),3)
Rolf Schmuck 2)
Employee representative

1) Member of Committee for Managing Board Matters
2) Member of Audit Committee
3) Member of Nomination Committee

highlights 2008

January

The A.S. Création share starts the year 2008 at ¤ 45.50.
A.S. Création presents the new products for 2008 at the “Heimtextil" exhibition in
Frankfurt am Main. They include the first wallpaper collection developed in
cooperation with star architect Hadi Teherani from Hamburg.

June

Four-shift operation is introduced in some production segments to extend the
operating times of the machines.

July

In the context of the capital expenditure programme for the expansion of the
production capacity, a new printing machine goes online in the Wallpaper Division.
A.S. Création develops the first SCHÖNER WOHNEN wallpaper
collection in cooperation with Gruner + Jahr. SCHÖNER WOHNEN
has been Germany’s leading home interest magazine for many

HIGHLIGHTS 2008

years and adds an attractive new brand to the portfolio of
A.S. Création.
August

A.S. Création and Russia’s leading wallpaper manufacturer Kof Palitra establish a joint
venture under the name of A.S. & Palitra. The joint venture will produce higher-quality
wallpapers for the Eastern European market.

November

The Association of German Wallpaper Manufacturers (VDT) opens a showroom at
Hamburg’s Ballindamm where the latest trends in wall coverings are exhibited.

December

At ¤ 13.91, the price of the A.S. Création share reaches the lowest level of the year
on December 10.
On December 18, A.S. Création acquires majority interests in MCF Investissement SA
and SCE SA, the two leading French wallpaper wholesalers. The acquisition
strengthens A.S. Création’s position in the important French wallpaper market.
The A.S. Création share closes at a price of ¤ 17.93 on December 30, 2008.
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Report of the supervisory Board

Committee and a Nomination Committee and
elected their members. The Supervisory Board
has now set up the following three committees
to ensure that its tasks are performed efficiently:
• the Committee for Managing Board Matters,
• the Audit Committee and
• the Nomination Committee.
Within the limits of what is legally permis14

Report of the supervisory Board

sible, the Supervisory Board has transferred
certain decision-making powers to the committees. It has been ensured that the full Supervisory Board is kept informed of the findings
and decisions of the committees.
The Committee for Managing Board Matters,
which is responsible for the Managing Board
contracts including their compensation as well
as for other Board matters, met on January 15,

In the fiscal year 2008, the Supervisory Board

2008 and on March 5, 2008. The two meet-

held five ordinary meetings on March 5, April

ings focused on a review of the structure and

30, June 6, September 11 and December 11.

amount of the Managing Board compensation.

No Supervisory Board member attended fewer
than half of the meetings. The composition of

The Audit Committee was constituted at the

the Supervisory Board remained unchanged in

meeting on March 3, 2009, which means that

fiscal 2008.

it did not meet during the fiscal year 2008.
The Audit Committee will perform its tasks,

At the meeting on December 11, 2008, the

which primarily include auditing the financial

Supervisory Board decided to form an Audit

statements and consolidated financial state-

Report of the supervisory Board

ments and the quarterly reports as well as

the statutes or under the Managing Board's

monitoring the effectiveness of the risk man-

rules of internal procedure.

agement system, as of the fiscal year 2009.
In the past fiscal year, the activities of the
The task of the Nomination Committee consists

Supervisory Board focused on the following:

in proposing suitable candidates for new elections to the Supervisory Board. There was no

• analysis and discussion of the financial

need for the Nomination Committee to meet

statements and the consolidated financial

in fiscal 2008, given that the current term of

statements for the year ended

office of all Supervisory Board members will

December 31, 2007,

expire at the end of the General Meeting of
Shareholders that will resolve on the discharge
of the acts during the fiscal year 2010.

• discussion of the company's future strategic
development against the background of the
changing competitive environment and the

The Supervisory Board regularly advised the

growing importance of the international 		

Managing Board on the management of the

output markets,

company and monitored its management activities. The Supervisory Board was directly
involved in all decisions that were of funda-

• analysis of further growth opportunities
both in Germany and abroad,

mental importance for the company. It was
informed about the course of business and the

• decision to gradually acquire 100% of the

situation of the company in written monthly

shares in SCE - Société de conception

reports as well as in oral and written reports

d’édition SA, Boves/France, and in MCF

presented by the Managing Board at its meet-

Investissements SA, Ballancourt-sur-Essonne/

ings. Additional written reports were sub-

France, by A.S. Création (France) SAS,

mitted on all special events. In addition, the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board was regu-

• decision to build up a wallpaper produ-

larly informed by the Managing Board in per-

ction in Russia through the foundation of

sonal meetings.

a 50:50 joint venture between A.S. Création
Tapeten AG and OOO Kof Palitra, 		

The Supervisory Board reviewed important individual transactions and decided on all transactions requiring its approval by law, under

Zheleznodorozhny/Russia,
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• arranging and securing the future finan-

The financial statements of A.S. Création

cing of the company, especially in view

Tapeten AG and the consolidated financial

of the situation in the financial and credit

statements for 2008 as well as the manage-

markets,

ment report of A.S. Création Tapeten AG and
the Group management report were made

• approval of the corporate plan and the

available to the Supervisory Board. They were

capital expenditure budget for fiscal year

audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungs-

2009 and

gesellschaft, Cologne, and received their unqualified audit opinion.

• discussion about the recommendations
and proposals of the German Corporate 		

In accordance with the recommendations made

Governance Code including the efficiency

by the German Corporate Governance Code,

audit provided for under the Code.

the Supervisory Board obtained a statement
from the auditor stating which professional,

16

The Supervisory Board and the Managing Board

financial and other relations between the

jointly issued a declaration of conformity and

auditors and the company exist that might

explained which recommendations of the

raise doubts about their independence be-

German Corporate Governance Code have not

fore awarding the audit assignment for the

been adopted.

financial year 2008. The statement also covers other services, especially in the field of

In fiscal 2007, it was decided to successively

consultancy, provided to the company in the

review the internal controlling systems of all

past fiscal year. The statement issued by the

Group companies. This is not a review for a

auditors to the Supervisory Board raised no

specific reason but an internal review in the

doubts about their independence.

context of the Group-wide risk management
efforts. With the first of these reviews

The Supervisory Board did not instruct the

implemented in the past fiscal year,

auditors to focus on a special key topic for

AS Creation (UK) Ltd. was subjected to such

this year's audit of the financial statements

a review in the context of this year’s consoli-

of A.S. Création Tapeten AG.

dated financial statements. The results of
the review, including the respective report,

The Audit Committee and the full Supervisory

were submitted to the Supervisory Board and

Board reviewed and discussed the financial

discussed by the latter.

statements, the consolidated financial state-

Report of the supervisory Board

ments, the two management reports and the

statements, the consolidated financial state-

profit appropriation proposal, especially with

ments, the two management reports and the

a view to the provisions required in view of

profit appropriation proposal.

the financial and economic crisis.
The Supervisory Board therefore approves
The auditors' reports were submitted to the

the financial statements of A.S. Création

Supervisory Board members in good time.

Tapeten AG and the consolidated financial

They were discussed in detail at the meeting

statements prepared by the Managing Board

of the Audit Committee on March 3, 2009 and

for the year ended December 31, 2008. The

at the Supervisory Board’s meeting on March

financial statements are therefore adopted.

4, 2009. The Chairman of the Audit Commit-

The Supervisory Board also supports the

tee reported to the full Supervisory Board

Managing Board's profit appropriation pro-

on the treatment of the financial statements

posal.

and the consolidated financial statements by
the Audit Committee. Both the Audit Com-

The Supervisory Board would like to thank

mittee meeting and the Supervisory Board’s

the members of the Managing Board and all

meeting were attended by representatives of

employees for their successful commitment

the auditors, who reported on the key results

to the company, its customers and its share-

of their audit. In the context of their audit,

holders.

the auditors noted, among other things, that
potential developments that may jeopardise

Gummersbach, March 4, 2009

the continued existence of the company and
the Group may be identified and documented
by the early risk identification system established in accordance with section 91 of the
German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) and

Franz Jürgen Schneider

that they have been properly presented in the

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

management report. The results of the audit
were approved by the Audit Committee and
the Supervisory Board.
No objections were raised following the Supervisory Board's own review of the financial
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Introduction
Good and responsible corporate governance
is today defined by nationally and internationally recognised standards. Efficient cooperation between the Managing Board and
the Supervisory Board, respect of shareholders'
interests as well as open and transparent corporate communication are key aspects of good
corporate governance. The Managing Board
and the Supervisory Board of A.S. Création
Tapeten AG have traditionally been committed
to these standards.
18
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German Corporate Governance Code
The German Corporate Governance Code
(hereinafter referred to as the "Code") was
published by the Government Commission
of the same name in 2002. The Code is
normally reviewed once a year against the
background of national and international
developments and amended if required. The
latest amendments were decided by the
Government Commission on June 6, 2008.
The current version of the Code can be viewed
at www.corporate-governance-code.de.
While the cross-industry and cross-company
recommendations and suggestions of the Code
are not binding, Article 161 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz AktG) and

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Article 285 (16) of the German Commercial

Code as amended on June 14, 2007 in the

Code (Handelsgesetzbuch HGB) require an

period from March 5, 2008 to June 6, 2008

annual declaration by the Managing Board

subject to the exceptions stated in last year's

and the Supervisory Board in connection with

declaration of conformity dated March 5,

the publication of the financial statements as

2008 and that, thereafter, the company has

to which recommendations of the Code have

complied and will continue to comply with

been and are being complied with and which

the German Corporate Governance Code as

recommendations have not been and are not

amended on June 6, 2008 subject to the fol-

being applied (so-called declaration of con-

lowing exceptions:

formity).
• Agreement of a deductible under a D&O 		
The Managing Board and the Supervisory

insurance

Board of A.S. Création Tapeten AG welcome

(pursuant to Section 3.8 par. 2 of the Code)

the intention of the Government Commission

A third-party consequential loss insurance

to strengthen both national and international

(so-called D&O insurance) policy has been

investors' confidence in the management of

taken out for the Managing Board and the

German companies. A.S. Création Tapeten AG

Supervisory Board. A deductible has not

therefore complies with most of the recom-

been agreed. Given that the remuneration

mendations of the Code, albeit not with all of

of the company's executives and especially

them. In these few cases, the Managing Board

its Managing Board contains a high per-

and the Supervisory Board are of the opinion

formance-related component which acts

that either general considerations, e.g. an

as an incentive for prudent financial and

appropriate cost-benefit balance, or company-

economic management, a deductible will

specific reasons, e.g. the size of the company,

not be agreed in the future, either.

make it advisable not to seek compliance with
the general recommendations.

• Agreement of a severance payment cap
(pursuant to Section 4.2.3 par. 9 of the Code)

Declaration of conformity pursuant to

The Code recommends fixing a cap for

Article 161 AktG

severance payments in Managing Board
contracts in the event of premature

On March 4, 2009, the Managing Board and the

termination of a contract without serious

Supervisory Board of A.S. Création Tapeten AG

cause. The severance payment is recom-		

declared that the company complied with the

mended not to exceed the value of two

19
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years’ compensation including fringe bene-

election to the Supervisory Board should

fits and compensate no more than the re-

exclusively be based on the professional

maining term of the contract. The Managing

expertise and personal background of the

Board contracts of A.S. Création Tapeten AG

candidates, both of which are unrelated

signed before the coming into force of this

to the formal criterion of age. The Super-

recommendation do not include such a cap.

visory Board has therefore opted not to fix

Given that the terms of office of all Mana-

an age limit.

ging Board members will end on March 31,
2011 (i.e. in about two years’ time), the 		

• Introduction of a performance-related

Supervisory Board sees no need to amend

compensation for the Supervisory Board

the existing Managing Board contracts.

(pursuant to Section 5.4.6 par. 4 of the Code)
The current statutes of A.S. Création

• Setting up of an Audit Committee
20

Tapeten AG stipulate no performance-

(pursuant to Section 5.3.2 par. 1 of the Code)

related compensation, but only fixed com-

At its meeting on December 11, 2008, the

pensation of the Supervisory Board. In the

Supervisory Board elected an Audit Com-

opinion of the Managing Board and the

mittee, which means that the company has

Supervisory Board it is not clear to what

complied with this recommendation of the

extent performance-related compensation

Code since this date.

would have a positive effect on the work
of a Supervisory Board and a company's 		

• Setting up of a Nomination Committee

economic success.

(pursuant to Section 5.3.3 of the Code)
The Supervisory Board of A.S. Création

• Discussion of quarterly and half-year reports

Tapeten AG elected a Nomination Com-

(pursuant to Section 7.1.2 par. 2 of the Code)

mittee at its meeting on December 11, 2008

The Code recommends that the quarterly

which means that the company has com-

and half-year reports be discussed by the

plied with this recommendation of the Code

Supervisory Board or its Audit Committee

since this date.

and the Managing Board before publication.
In the past, this discussion was held bet-

• Specification of an age limit for the members

ween the Chairman of the Supervisory

of the Supervisory Board

Board and the Managing Board. With an

(pursuant to Section 5.4.1 of the Code)

Audit Committee set up on December 11,

The Supervisory Board of A.S. Création

2008, this recommendation will be complied

Tapeten AG is convinced that proposals for

with from the fiscal year 2009 and the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

quarterly and half-year reports will now be

this Annual Report. The terms of office of all

discussed with the Audit Committee prior

Supervisory Board members will expire at the

to publication.

end of the General Meeting of Shareholders
that will ratify their acts for fiscal 2010, i.e.

Managing Board and Supervisory Board

presumably in spring 2011.

The Managing Board of A.S. Création Tape-

As of December 31, 2008, members of the

ten AG currently consists of three members,

Managing Board and members of the Super-

whose individual and collective responsibili-

visory Board held 6,281 shares (previous year:

ties are regulated by the rules of internal

1,755 shares) and 890,346 shares (previous

procedure. A list of the Managing Board

year: 875,346 shares), respectively. The Man-

members is provided in the "Managing Board

aging Board and the Supervisory Board thus

and Supervisory Board" chapter on page 12 of

hold a combined 29.9% (previous year: 29.2%)

this Annual Report. The members of the Man-

of the A.S. Création shares.
21

aging Board are appointed by the Supervisory
Board. The terms of office of the current

Compensation report

Board members will end on March 31, 2011.
The structure of the compensation of the
In accordance with the law and the statutes, the

Managing Board is defined by the Supervisory

Supervisory Board of A.S. Création Tapeten AG

Board Committee for Managing Board Mat-

consists of four members who are elected by

ters. The Committee reviews the amount and

the General Meeting of Shareholders and two

the structure of the Managing Board compen-

members who are elected by the workforce.

sation once a year. The last review was con-

The Supervisory Board formed three commit-

ducted at the Committee's meeting on March

tees:

4, 2009.

• the Committee for Managing Board Matters,

The compensation earned by the Managing

• the Audit Committee and
• the Nomination Committee.

Board members comprises a performancelinked and a non-performance-linked component. The latter consists of a fixed monthly
salary and the value of non-monetary com-

A list of the Supervisory Board and committee

pensation that needs to be stated under ap-

members is provided in the "Managing Board

plicable tax legislation (mainly the use of

and Supervisory Board" chapter on page 12 of

a company car). Tax on such non-monetary

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

compensation is to be paid by each individual

The consolidated net profit for the year 2007

Board member. While all Board members are

included non-cash income from the adjustment

basically entitled to the same non-monetary

of deferred taxes in an amount of ¤ 1.132 million.

compensation, the actual amounts differ

At the time, the Managing Board refrained

depending on the member's personal circum-

from incorporating this non-recurrent effect

stances. The performance-linked component

in the calculation of the bonus for the fiscal

of the compensation exclusively consists of

year 2007. As the decline in earnings in the

a management bonus, which is determined

past fiscal year was mostly attributable to the

mainly on the basis of the Group's net profit

non-recurrence of this special tax effect, the

for the year and of which each Board mem-

Managing Board compensation in fiscal 2008

ber receives a defined percentage. No other

was more or less on a par with the previous

variable components, e.g. stock options, have

year in spite of the lower consolidated net profit.

been agreed.
In addition, the members of the Managing Board
22

In accordance with the recommendation to pro-

benefit from pension commitments. These are

vide incentives for responsible management,

guaranteed fixed amounts that will be payable

the performance-linked, variable component

by the company when the pension entitlements

has traditionally represented the major portion

arise. As of the balance sheet date, provisions

of the Managing Board compensation paid by

in an amount of ¤ 0.260 million (previous year:

A.S. Création Tapeten AG. In fiscal 2008, the

¤ 0.307 million) had been established for these

performance-linked component accounted for

pension obligations. This performance-oriented

76.5% or ¤ 1.777 million (previous year: 76.1%

system entails two imponderables from the

or ¤ 1.733 million) of the Managing Board's

company's point of view. First, it is uncertain,

total compensation of ¤ 2.323 million (previ-

in view of the changing life expectancy, whether

ous year: ¤ 2.276 million), while the non-

the provisions that have been established will

performance-linked component represented

be sufficient when the pension entitlements

only 23.5% or ¤ 0.546 million (previous year:

arise. Second, the outflow of funds is delayed

23.9% or ¤ 0.543 million). The compensation of

in time, which means that today's pension

the Managing Board members is not reported

commitments will limit the financial scope

individually, as a clear majority of 97.85% of

available to the company's future management.

the shareholders attending the General Meeting of Shareholders on May 17, 2006 voted

To mitigate these disadvantages for A.S. Création

against this form of disclosure.

Tapeten AG, the transfer of the pension com-

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

mitments for the Managing Board members

the compensation of the Supervisory Board

from the performance-oriented system to a

members for the past fiscal year totalled

contribution-based system, to the extent that

¤ 81,000. Of this amount, Mr Schneider re-

this makes economic sense, was initiated in

ceived ¤ 22,500, Dr. Liebs received ¤ 18,000

2006. Since then, a constant annual amount

and Dr. Schadt received ¤ 13,500, while an

has been paid to an external pension fund, which

amount of ¤ 9,000 was paid to each of the

will make the future pension payments. As a

other three Supervisory Board members.

result, A.S. Création Tapeten AG's liabilities
under the performance-based commitments

This compensation report has been audited by

will decline in the coming year, i.e. the respec-

the auditors and is part of the Management

tive pension provisions can be reduced gradu-

Report.

ally. In fiscal 2008, the payments to the pension fund, less the income from the pro-rata

Directors' dealings

release of pension provisions, resulted in expenses of ¤ 25,000 (previous year: ¤ 36,000).

According to Article 15a of the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz

The compensation of the Supervisory Board is

WpHG), the members of the Managing Board

defined by the General Meeting of Shareholders

and of the Supervisory Board of A.S. Création

and documented in the statutes of A.S. Création

Tapeten AG as well as other persons who have

Tapeten AG. According to Article 14 of the cur-

regular access to insider information and who

rent statutes (as amended on May 3, 2007),

are authorised to take significant corporate

the members of the Supervisory Board receive

decisions are obliged to report their own deal-

a fixed compensation of ¤ 9,000 in addition

ings in A.S. Création shares or related financial

to the reimbursement of their expenses. The

instruments (i.e. so-called directors' dealings)

Chairman receives twice that amount and the

if these dealings exceed a total of ¤ 5,000 in

Vice Chairman 1.5 times that amount. A per-

a calendar year. This obligation also applies

formance-linked component is not provided

to persons and legal entities that are closely

for. The members of Committees formed by

related to one of the aforementioned persons.

the Supervisory Board receive an additional

A.S. Création Tapeten AG must immediately

compensation of ¤ 4,500 for this activity, with

publish such reports. In fiscal 2008, the follo-

the total compensation for committee work

wing transactions were reported to A.S. Création

limited to the amount of the fixed compensa-

Tapeten AG, which are also published on the

tion. In accordance with these regulations,

company’s website:

23

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

24

Date
Name
Position
Place			

Financial
instrument

Type of Number
transaction of items

Price
per item

Total
amount

31.03.08
J. Kämper Member of
Xetra		
MB

A.S. Création
share

Buy

1,500

31.80 €

47,700.00 €

31.10.08
B. Wagner Member of
Frankfurt a. M.		
MB

A.S. Création
share

Buy

521

24.00 €

12,504.00 €

09.12.08
F. J. Schneider Member of
off exchange		
SB

A.S. Création
share

Buy

15,000

22.12.08
B. Wagner Member of
Frankfurt a. M.		
MB

A.S. Création
share

Buy

80

14.35 €

1,148.00 €

22.12.08
B. Wagner Member of
Frankfurt a. M.		
MB

A.S. Création
share

Buy

1,920

14.40 €

27,648.00 €

Corporate communication

12.00 € 180,000.00 €

formation medium that is freely accessible
irrespective of time and place. The website of

Open and transparent corporate communication

A.S. Création (www.as-creation.de) therefore

is an important aspect of good corporate gover-

provides a wealth of well-structured company

nance. Apart from clear and comprehensible

information for interested users, e.g. in the

contents, this aspect also calls for all stake-

"Investor Relations" section, which contains

holders to have equal access to company

comprehensive financial information on

information. The Managing Board attaches

A.S. Création.

great importance to the Internet as an in-
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Introduction
The A.S. Création Group comprises two Divisions (segments), the Wallpaper Division and
the Furnishing Fabrics Division. The Wallpaper
Division produces and markets wallpapers and
borders on a global scale; accounting for 92%
of 2008 Group sales, it is the larger of the two
Divisions. The Furnishing Fabrics Division markets curtains and furnishing fabrics and has
no manufacturing resources of its own. The
legal structure of the A.S. Création Group mirrors the management structure, i.e. the two
Divisions are legally independent units.

MANAGEMENT REPORT

Both Divisions were again able to increase their
sales in fiscal 2008. Total Group sales rose by
5.1% from the previous year's ¤ 167.6 million
to ¤ 176.2 million in 2008. This is the highest
level in the history of the company.
This sales growth did not lead to an increase in

10.0% from ¤ 15.0 million in the previous

earnings, though. The sharp rise in commodity

year to ¤ 13.5 million in fiscal 2008. The EBIT

and energy prices seen over the past years con-

margin stood at only 7.7% in the fiscal year,

tinued in the past fiscal year. While the first

down from 9.0% in the previous year.

signs of a decline in prices emerged towards
the end of the year, they came too late to have

For the first time in many years, A.S. Création

any significant positive effects during the re-

failed to reach the targets it had set itself for

porting period. By contrast, the slowdown in

2008. Having projected a net profit of ¤ 10.5

sales in the second half of 2008, which even

million to ¤ 11.0 million for the fiscal year, the

led to a drop in sales in Q4 2008, had a nega-

company eventually generated a net profit of

tive effect on earnings. As a result, earnings

¤ 8.9 million. This deviation is due to the fact

before interest and taxes (EBIT) declined by

that the Managing Board was unable to predict
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the extent of the financial and economic crisis

in the first three months of the year, it declined

and had projected sales in an amount of

in the following three quarters; as a result,

¤ 185.0 million for the fiscal year 2008. This

the euro-zone’s full-year GDP was up by only

sales target was clearly missed. Against the

0.7% on the previous year. The reasons for

background of the material changes in the

this negative trend are diverse. The continued

economic environment, the Managing Board

increase in commodity and energy prices, which

is satisfied with the results achieved in 2008.

peaked in 2008, and the slowdown in construction activity weighed on the economy. At

30

In spite of the deteriorating economy and the

the same time, the shortage of liquidity and

growing pessimism, the Managing Board took a

banks’ more restrictive lending policies led to

number of important decisions for the future

an increase in companies’ (and consumers’)

of A.S. Création in 2008. These included, in

borrowing costs. As a result, capital spending

particular, the expansion of the company’s

started to decline in the second quarter of 2008

market position in France through the takeover

and slumped by 2.9% in the fourth quarter.

of the two leading French wallpaper wholesalers,

While capital spending in the year as a whole

which was the largest acquisition in the his-

was still up by 1.0% on the previous year, a

tory of A.S. Création.

comparison with last year’s 4.2% growth rate
shows that one of the main drivers of the eco-

2009 will doubtless be one of the most difficult

nomy has virtually been eliminated. Consumer

fiscal years for A.S. Création. The consolidated

spending, which increased by 1.6% in 2007,

financial statements for 2008 show that A.S.

made hardly any contribution to growth, either.

Création has started this fiscal year with a

Although collective wages increased at the

sound and robust financial structure (in spite

highest rate in many years, consumer spending

of last year’s acquisitions). The Managing

in the euro-zone rose by only 0.3%. By con-

Board is therefore confident that A.S. Création

trast, private households clearly increased

will be able to expand its market leadership

their savings. This trend is probably attribut-

and improve its competitive position.

able to the growing uncertainty resulting from
the asset losses incurred because of the slump

Macroeconomic environment

in share prices and the increasingly bleaker
economic outlook. As employment in the

The euro-zone – the key output market of

euro-zone is hardly rising any more and the

A.S. Création – slipped into recession in the

jobless rate no longer falls, there is a risk of

course of 2008. While GDP increased by 2.1%

consumer spending declining even further.

MANAGEMENT REPORT

Similar to the euro-zone, economic growth in

sector. As a result, GDP increased by only

Germany also slowed down in 2008. Following

approx. 2% in 2008. The decline in exports has

a growth rate of 2.5% in 2007, GDP increased

reduced the trade balance surpluses that were

by only 1.3% in 2008. In contrast to the euro-

generated by Russia in the past and allowed

zone, capital spending remained a main driver

the country to establish high foreign currency

of the German economy in 2008, growing by

reserves. This is putting the Russian rouble

4.5% compared to the previous year. Exports,

under growing pressure. These depreciation

the second driver of the previous upswing,

tendencies were intensified by a massive flight

slumped, however. On the one hand, reces-

of capital from Russia due to investors’ loss of

sionary trends in key export markets led to

confidence in the political situation and the

declining demand; on the other hand, the

shifting of rouble-denominated bank deposits

competitiveness of the export-driven German

into foreign currencies by the Russian popula-

economy deteriorated due to the continued

tion. Due to interventions by the Russian

appreciation of the euro, which made exported

central bank, the depreciation of the rouble

goods more expensive in non-EMU countries.

against the euro was limited to 15% in 2008.

Accordingly, export growth slowed down to 3.2%

A much higher depreciation is expected for

in 2008 (2007: 7.5%). Exports are expected to

2009, though.

decline by as much as 6.3% in 2009, which will
have an adverse impact on capital spending.

As mentioned above, the increase in commodity and energy prices continued, even though

The economic environment in Russia, A.S.

prices peaked in 2008 and tended to decline

Création’s most important output market in

in the second half of the year. According to

Eastern Europe, deteriorated markedly in 2008.

the Hamburg-based WeltWirtschaftsInstitut

The eight-year upswing, which saw the eco-

(HWWI), global commodity prices (excl. energies)

nomy grow at annual rates of approx. 7%, is

increased by 4.5% (2007: 8.0%) on a euro basis,

apparently coming to an end. As a leading

while global energy prices rose by 30.8%

exporter of commodities and energies, Russia

(2007: 1.9%). Many of the raw materials used

has been hit hard by the price slump seen in

by A.S. Création such as paper, non-wovens,

the second half of 2008. Moreover, the de-

PVC and paint as well as energy purchases

cline in global demand for intermediate prod-

were affected by these price increases.

ucts (e.g. steel) is weighing on the country’s
economy, as these intermediate products are

Conclusion: The economic environment deteri-

important export goods of Russia’s industrial

orated significantly, especially in the second half
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of 2008. At the end of 2008, both the EU member

In the previous years, the greater interest in

states and the Eastern European non-EU

wallpapers was merely reflected in higher

countries were in a recession, whose extent

media coverage and greater visibility of wall-

and duration are difficult to predict. Consumer

papers in advertisements and commercials.

spending did not remain unaffected by the

In 2008, this trend apparently translated into

general trend. Wallpapers and furnishings fabrics

effective demand. This means that demand

being consumer goods, this macroeconomic

for wallpapers ran ahead of total consumer

trend had an adverse impact on A.S. Création.

spending in Germany, which was 0.2% below

Additional burdens resulted from the marked

the previous year’s level.

appreciation of the euro against the currencies
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of the large Eastern European countries, which

As an export-driven sector, the German wall-

are an important output market for A.S. Création.

paper industry felt the effect of slower growth

Increased raw material and energy prices also

in foreign markets, especially Eastern Europe,

had an adverse impact, as they weighed on

in the course of 2008. While the VDT mem-

A.S. Création’s margins in 2008. Overall, the

bers’ export sales in the fiscal year were up

macroeconomic environment in 2008 was

by an impressive 10.1% on the previous year,

very negative for A.S. Création.

there was a clear downward trend over the
quarters. A comparison with the previous year,

Industry-specific environment

when export sales increased by 17.6%, shows
the slower momentum.

The members of the Association of German Wallpaper Manufacturers (VDT) increased their dome-

In the management report for the year 2007,

stic and export sales by 7.6% in 2008, which

the Managing Board already reported that, due

was the fifth consecutive year of growth. At

to the liquidation of large wallpaper manu-

¤ 161.8 million, sales in A.S. Création's Wallpaper

facturers in the previous years, the increased

Division were up 5.6% on the previous year's

demand for wallpapers now had to be covered

¤ 153.2 million. At approx. 32%, A.S. Création's

from reduced production capacities. This con-

share of the VDT members' market remained

centration led to supply bottlenecks at some

more or less unchanged in the fiscal year.

companies operating at full capacity. In response
to this, larger Western European wallpaper

It was very positive to see that the VDT

manufacturers invested in the expansion and

members reported a 2.5% rise in domestic

modernisation of their production capacities.

sales in 2008 – the first increase since 2004.

In addition, new production capacities based

MANAGEMENT REPORT

on the latest technologies were installed in

Division again faced a difficult industry envi-

Eastern Europe. The international financial

ronment in 2008. Unlike the wallpaper indus-

and economic crisis hit the large Western

try, the German home textiles industry was

European wallpaper manufacturers in a phase

unable to isolate itself from the general de-

of expansion; as a consequence, the decline

cline in German consumer spending. Right on

in demand since mid-2008 has directly led to

the contrary – nearly all product groups were

an underutilisation of capacity. The Managing

affected by much stronger declines in sales.

Board believes that all major manufacturers

According to the Association of German Home

are affected by this situation. Accordingly, it

Textiles Manufacturers, sales of furnishing

is safe to assume that the consolidation pro-

fabrics and curtains – the two market seg-

cess in the global wallpaper industry will not

ments in which A.S. Création operates – were

only continue but even accelerate.

down by 8.3% (furnishing fabrics) and 6.8%
(curtains) on the previous year. Against this

Sales of ¤ 161.8 million mean that A.S. Création

background, it is a great achievement that

is currently the largest and leading wallpaper

sales revenues in the Furnishing Fabrics Divi-

manufacturer in the European Union. This

sion reached the highest level in the compa-

position was strengthened further at the end

ny’s history in 2008; at ¤ 15.1 million (2007:

of 2008, when A.S. Création took over MCF

¤ 14.8 million), sales passed the ¤ 15 million

Investissement SA and SCE SA, two French wall-

mark for the first time.

paper wholesalers (for details of the acquisitions, please refer to “Capital expenditures”).

Sales

As A.S. Création is the market leader, the
Managing Board sees opportunities for the

The A.S. Création Group boosted its sales by

company to improve its own market position

5.1% from ¤ 167.6 million in the previous year

in the ongoing consolidation process. Building

to ¤ 176.2 million in fiscal 2008. Given that

on our strengths - proximity to customers and

only the balance sheets for the year ended

markets, a unique product range, qualified and

December 31, 2008 and not the income state-

motivated employees, a powerful and flexible

ments of the companies acquired at the end

internal organisation and a clear strategic

of 2008 were included in the consolidated fi-

positioning - we will shape a positive future

nancial statements for 2008, this sales growth

for A.S. Création.

is exclusively attributable to internal growth.
While this sales performance looks positive at

As in the previous years, the Furnishing Fabrics

first sight, it must be viewed against the back-
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crisis, first in the form of declining sales
3ALES PERFORMANCE
IN æ M





in the main EU output markets and later




European non-EU markets in the fourth









by an additional downturn in the Eastern



quarter. As a result, sales growth slowed
down to 1.8% in the third quarter, and
sales even declining by 4.1% in the fourth
quarter.
Overall, A.S. Création is not satisfied with
the sales revenues generated in the fiscal
year. The Managing Board believes, however,
that the strong changes in the economic en-

ground of the two following criteria:
34

vironment in the second half of 2008 made it
impossible for the company to reach its origi-

• Sales projections

nal sales target.

Based on the investments in capacity expansion made in the previous years and the

The domestic sales performance was positive.

first half of 2008, the Group’s projections

Following declining sales in the two previous

provided for a 10.4% rise in sales to ¤ 185

years, A.S. Création boosted its gross domestic

million. This target was not reached in the

sales by 7.0% in 2008. This increase is attrib-

past fiscal year. As a result, production

utable to the successful market launch of new

capacity was not utilised in full.

products and marketing concepts, e.g. the collection marketed under the “Schöner Wohnen”

• Trend in the course of the year

license. As growth in foreign markets slowed

While Group sales increased by 10.9% and

down at the same time, the Group’s export

12.1%, respectively, in the first two quarters

share did not rise further. International sales

of 2008 and A.S. Création was thus on track

accounted for 66.3% of total gross sales,

to reach its ambitious target for the year

compared to 66.8% in the previous year.

2008, this positive trend ended abruptly in
the second half of the year. This was when

Accounting for approx. 92% of total Group

A.S. Création began to feel the effects of

sales, the Wallpaper Division dominates the

the international financial and economic

A.S. Création Group. As the latter operates

MANAGEMENT REPORT

in a market characterised by international
consolidation, in which geographic frontiers
are losing importance, the Managing Board

'ROSS 3ALES 
BY REGIONS

no longer defines Germany but the EU as the
company's home market. In 2008, the 27 EU
countries (including Germany) accounted for

IN 

æM
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63.7% (2007: 65.6%) of the Group's total gross


sales, which means that the EU is by far the
most important sales region for A.S. Création.
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3ALES GROSS

Employees
The average headcount of A.S. Création increased by 44 people or 6.5% from 675 in 2007

Moreover, July 2008 saw the start-up of a new

to 719 in 2008. 646 employees (2007: 606)

printing machine which had been ordered

worked in the Wallpaper Division and 73

already at the end of 2007. The Furnishing

(2007: 69) in the Furnishing Fabrics Division.

Fabrics Division also increased its headcount

The average headcount of the year 2008 does

to support the projected sales growth.
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not include the 94 employees who joined the
A.S. Création Group in the context of the take-

The Managing Board of A.S. Création is con-

overs of the two French wallpaper wholesalers,
MCF Investissement SA and SCE SA, at the end
of 2008. Accordingly, the number of employees

.UMBER OF EMPLOYEES AVERAGE

at the beginning of the fiscal year 2009 was
much higher and currently stands at 821.







The sharp increase in the average number of
employees in 2008 is mainly attributable to the














4RAINEES AND
APPRENTICES



7HITE COLLAR
WORKERS

capacity expansion in the Wallpaper Division.
On June 1, 2008, four-shift operation was
introduced in some production segments to
extend the running times of the machines
whose output enjoyed particularly high demand.




"LUE COLLAR
WORKERS
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vinced that training and further education of

forts were insufficient to offset the fourth-

its workforce are important factors for the future

quarter decline in sales. The Managing Board

of the company. Accordingly, A.S. Création has

of A.S. Création was therefore forced to discon-

a long tradition of training young people. These

tinue the four-shift scheme, which had been

efforts were intensified even further in 2008.

introduced only with effect from June 1, 2008,

The average number of trainees and appren-

already on December 31, 2008. The resulting

tices increased from 34 in 2007 to 38 in the

non-renewal of temporary employment contracts

past fiscal year. In addition, the internal train-

will lead to a reduction in the workforce in the

ing structures and processes were improved

course of 2009.

to prepare the trainees and apprentices as
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effectively as possible for their respective final

For the first time in five years, the company

exams. In spite of the less favourable mac-

was unable to increase staff productivity in the

roeconomic situation, the Managing Board

past fiscal year. At ¤ 0.245 million, sales per

intends to continue A.S. Création’s vocational

employee were a moderate 1.2% below the

training activities at the same high level in

previous year’s ¤ 0.248 million. The decline

fiscal 2009.

was clearly more pronounced in the second
half of the year, when sales were much lower.

In the past, the Managing Board repeatedly
used this opportunity to emphasise that main-

We would like to take this opportunity to thank

taining A.S. Création’s international competi-

all employees of A.S. Création for their commit-

tiveness is extremely important for the future

ment, which enabled both Divisions to close

of the company. Given that A.S. Création gen-

the fiscal year 2008 with what was a satis-

erates only approx. 34% of its gross sales in

factory result overall in spite of the difficult

the domestic market, where about 93% of its

environment.

workforce is employed, the safety of these jobs
hinges on the company’s success in foreign

Capital expenditures

markets. This has been impressively confirmed
by the year 2008. Due to the revenue trend

At ¤ 23.9 million, capital expenditures in the

described under “Sales”, A.S. Création was no

fiscal year 2008 clearly exceeded the previous

longer able to fully utilise its own production

year’s ¤ 11.2 million due the acquisition of two

capacities. As a result, production was scaled

French wallpaper wholesalers and reached the

down through employee taking overtime and

highest level in the history of A.S. Création.

accumulated leave. Unfortunately, these ef-

On December 18, 2008, A.S. Création acquired
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70% of the shares in MCF Investissement SA
as well as 75% of the shares in SCE SA. These

#APITAL EXPENDITURES AND DEPRECIATION
IN æ M

acquisitions accounted for ¤ 14.7 million of the





total capex volume in 2008. The remaining
shares will be acquired in 2011. Consolidated
sales of ¤ 43.6 million in 2008 make MCF and
SCE the leading French wallpaper wholesalers.













The Managing Board is of the opinion that the
customer structures of A.S. Création, SCE and
MCF ideally complement each other, which






means that the takeover will clearly strengthen
A.S. Création’s position in the French market.

#APEX



$EPRECIATION

Both companies will retain their respective
identities after the takeover. The Managing
Board considers this expansion to be of great

intangible assets. They remained below the

strategic importance for the future of A.S.

previous year’s ¤ 11.2 million due to the fact

Création for the following reasons:

that three new production lines were taken
into service in 2007 while only one new pro-

• France is the largest wallpaper market in

duction line was acquired in fiscal 2008.

Western Europe and is in a phase of consolidation.

As described above, the economic slowdown
in 2008 made it impossible for A.S. Création to

• MCF and SCE will have access to the broad

fully utilise the extended production capaci-

wallpaper range and the production ca-

ties. With sales falling short of expectations

pacities of A.S. Création.

and of the production capacities, the existing
logistic capacities were sufficient to handle

• The EU (and the euro-zone in particular)

the sales volumes of the year 2008. As the

will account for a growing share of A.S.

duration of the current recession is unclear, the

Création’s sales revenues.

Managing Board has suspended the planned
expansion of the logistic capacities for the

Most of the remaining capital expenditures in

time being. Given that the planning processes

an amount of ¤ 9.2 million were investments

have been completed and the necessary real

in property, plant and equipment as well as

estate has been acquired, A.S. Création will
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be able to act quickly and adjust its own infra-

and Restriction of Chemicals“. The purpose of

structure as soon as economic activity and

REACH is to protect human health and the

sales volumes pick up.

environment from the hazards of chemicals.
Since December 1, 2008, it has been forbidden

Apart from capital expenditures in the replace-

for companies to market chemicals in the EU

ment and expansion of plant and machinery,

that have not been pre-registered. All chemicals

investments in the development of new collec-

used by A.S. Création have been pre-registered.

tions play an important role in the Wallpaper

This pre-registration will now be followed by

Division. A.S. Création continued to develop

registration, in the context of which the hazards

and refine its wallpaper range in 2008 and

are determined. Depending on the quantities

offered its customers a large number of new

used in the EU, the registration must be effected

articles. Total capital expenditures in 2008

by 2010, 2013 or 2018.

helped to strengthen A.S. Création’s position
38

as the largest and leading wallpaper manufac-

Efficient and economical use of natural resources

turer in the European Union.

is ensured throughout the production process.
Constant measurements of exhaust gases from

Product safety and environmental protection

the thermal exhaust air decontamination plants
in Gummersbach-Derschlag and Wiehl-Bomig

All A.S. Création wallpapers are produced to

ensure that exhaust gases remain substan-

applicable EN or DIN standards and thus comply

tially below the limits permissible under the

with legal provisions. But we offer our custom-

German Clean Air Act. Moreover, those parts

ers even greater safety, as our products meet

of the production that still used solvent-based

the stricter requirements of "Gütegemeinschaft

paints were converted to water-based paints

Tapete e.V.", which are documented in RAL-

in the course of 2008. As a result, all heliogra-

GZ-479. Compliance with this standard is

vure printing machines now use only water-

regularly examined by the internationally

based paints.

renowned Fraunhofer Society on a random
sample basis.

Our capital expenditures also reflect our commitment to a sparing use of resources. While

REACH, the new chemicals regulation, came

all capital expenditures required to meet the

into force throughout the European Union (EU)

increasingly stringent legal and regulatory

on June 1, 2008. REACH is the abbreviation

requirements count as direct capital expen-

of “Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation

ditures in environmental protection, capital
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expenditures in modernisation also contribute

Established in August 2008 under the name of

to environmental protection given that the use

OOO A.S. & Palitra, the joint venture will pro-

of advanced technologies usually also entails

duce higher-quality wallpapers for the Eastern

a higher degree of efficiency with regard to

European market and the Russian market, in

the resources used. The high level of capital

particular. These wallpapers will be marketed

expenditures aimed at ensuring growth as

under the “A.S. Création” brand name. Given

well as the company's future viability mean

that the construction of the production plant

that A.S. Création is in a good position also in

is still at the planning stage, A.S. Création

this respect.

incurred pro-rated capital expenditures of only
¤ 0.2 million in the fiscal year.

Important events in FY 2008
As outlined under “Capital expenditures”, the
Against the background of increased demand,

contracts for the takeover of the two leading

four-shift operation was introduced in some

French wallpaper manufacturers were signed

production segments on June 1, 2008 to extend

in December 2008. This takeover, which is

the running times of the machines. The staff

included in the capex volume of the year 2008

required in this context were hired and trained

in an amount of ¤ 14.7 million, will strengthen

in the first half of 2008. Due to the decline in

A.S. Création’s position in the French wall-

sales in the fourth quarter of 2008, four-shift

paper market.

operation had to be discontinued with effect
from December 31, 2008 and A.S. Création

Key business figures

was no longer able to fully utilise its wallpaper
production capacities. Accordingly, production

Earnings position

lines were taken out of service through employees taking overtime and accumulated leave.

Although sales increased by 5.1% to a record

The resulting decline in total output had an

level of ¤ 176.2 million in fiscal 2008 (2007:

adverse impact on the earnings situation in

¤ 167.6 million), the earnings position of

the second half of 2008.

A.S. Création deteriorated as earnings before
interest and taxes declined by 10.0% from

In June 2008, A.S. Création Tapeten AG and

the previous year’s ¤ 15.0 million to ¤ 13.5

OOO Kof Palitra, Russia’s leading wallpaper

million. Accordingly, the EBIT margin dropped

manufacturer, agreed to establish a joint ven-

from 9.0% in the previous year to 7.7% in

ture in which each of the partners holds 50%.

fiscal 2008. This deterioration in the earnings
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position is attributable to two key factors,

level since 1998, the year in which the Group

namely insufficient sales revenues and in-

adopted International Financial Reporting

creased procurement costs.

Standards (IFRS). This erosion in the gross
profit margin translated into an approximately

Sales and revenues in fiscal 2008 were insuf-

¤ 1.4 million shortfall in profit contributions

ficient to fully utilise the existing production

as compared to the previous year.

capacity. Given that the measures taken to
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reduce the output did not offset the decline

Unlike the previous years and due to insuffi-

in sales, inventories increased in the course

cient sales growth, A.S. Création was unable

of 2008. As of the balance sheet date, inven-

to compensate for the adverse effect on earn-

tories comprised 10.6 million rolls of wallpa-

ings of the lower gross profit margin by im-

per and border, thus exceeding the previous

proving productivity and overhead absorption

year’s level by approx. 0.4 million rolls. This

in 2008. Accordingly, the following key figures,

increase in inventories weighed on the gross

which clearly improved in the past years, were

profit margin for 2008, as the profits will be

only on a par with the previous year in 2008:

realised only when the products are sold in
future. The gross profit margin additionally
suffered from increased procurement costs.
As described under “Macroeconomic environment”, global commodity prices (excl. energies) increased by 4.5 %, in 2008, while energy

• Sales per employee: ¤ 0.245 million
(2007: ¤ 0.248 million)
• Personnel expenses as a percentage of
total output: 20.1% (2007: 20.2 %)

prices soared by 30.8 %. This general upward

• Other operating expenses as a percentage

trend in prices also affected some of the raw

of total output: 13.1% (2007: 13.1 %)

materials used by A.S. Création such as paper,
non-wovens, PVC and paint as well as energy

At ¤ 0.7 million, other operating income was

purchases, which led to a rise in production

¤ 1.6 million below the previous year’s level,

costs. A.S. Création pursues a product policy

which is quite striking. This decrease is primarily

of compensating these price increases on the

attributable to benefits in an amount of

procurement side by successively expanding

¤ 0.8 million received by A.S. Création under

the percentage of higher-quality products in

the business interruption insurance policy in

the wallpaper range. This goal was not fully

conjunction with a fire in the previous year

achieved in 2008. At 44.9 %, (2007: 45.7 %),

(for details, please refer to the management

the gross profit margin reached the lowest

report for fiscal 2007).
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Due to the above factors, earnings before interest

year, the discount rate had also been adjusted

and taxes (EBIT) amounted to ¤ 13.5 million

by 0.75 percentage points (from 4.25 % to

in fiscal 2008 (2007: ¤ 15.0 million), while the

5.0 %), which also resulted in an income of

EBIT margin stood at 7.7 % (2007: 9.0 %). This

¤ 0.6 million.

means that the EBIT margin has fallen further
below the 10 % mark targeted by the Manag-

The fiscal year’s EBIT and financial result led

ing Board of A.S. Création.

to earnings before taxes of ¤ 12.9 million,
which was 11.7 % below the previous year’s

A.S. Création’s increased net financial liabili-

¤ 14.6 million. The Wallpaper Division contrib-

ties are reflected in the financial result, which

uted ¤ 12.6 million (2007: ¤ 14.4 million) and

declined by ¤ 0.2 million from ¤ -0.4 million

the Furnishing Fabrics Division ¤ 0.3 million

in the previous year to ¤ -0.6 million in 2008.

(2007: ¤ 0.2 million) to this amount. MCF

In the past fiscal year, the discount rate for

Investissement SA and SCE SA, the new ac-

the actuarial calculation of pension provisions

quired French companies, were included in the

had to be raised from the previous year’s 5.0 %

consolidated financial statements with effect

to 5.75 % due to the situation in the capital

from December 31, 2008 and therefore made

market. This adjustment of the discount rate

no contribution to the Group’s earnings.

to the higher capital market yields led to
an actuarial decline in pension provisions by

At 30.6 %, the imputed tax ratio changed only

¤ 0.6 million. Under IFRS, this non-cash income

little as compared to the previous year’s 31.4 %.

is recognised as interest income. In the previous

But a more detailed analysis of income taxes
reveals differences in their nature. The corporate tax reform adopted in Germany in July 2007

%ARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES
IN æ M

reduced the nominal income tax rates with


















effect from January 1, 2008. A.S. Création's
tax rate, which is comprised of trade tax as well
as corporate income tax and the solidarity
surcharge, declined from 39.28 % to 30.71 %.
The tax deferrals required under IFRS had to
be calculated at the lower tax rate already
in 2007 because of their reference to the future.
This resulted in a reduction in deferred tax
assets and liabilities, which led to non-recurrent
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non-cash income of ¤ 1.1 million in the past

Based on the net profit for the year 2008,

fiscal year. In fiscal 2008, A.S. Création effec-

earnings per share amounted to ¤ 3.22 (2007:

tively benefited from the corporate tax reform

¤ 3.59).

through lower tax payments.
Financial position
At ¤ 8.9 million, net profit clearly fell short of
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the previous year’s ¤ 10.0 million; adjusted for

Upon the initial consolidation of MCF Inves-

the previous year’s special tax effect, however,

tissement SA und SCE SA, the two companies

it is on a par with the 2007 net profit. Neverthe-

acquired in France, with effect from December 31,

less, the target of a net profit between ¤ 10.5

2008, the balance sheet structure of A.S.

million and ¤ 11.0 million has been missed. As

Création changed significantly. Total assets

mentioned before, this is due to the dramatic

increased by ¤ 39.3 million or 31.5 % from

deterioration in the macroeconomic environ-

¤ 124.6 million on December 31, 2007 to

ment in the second half of 2008, which was

¤ 163.9 million. This sharp rise shows that

impossible to predict.

these acquisitions represented an important
step for A.S. Création.

Between May and October 2008, A.S. Création
Tapeten AG repurchased own shares via the

Together with current capital expenditures,

stock exchange; as a result, the average

these acquisitions led to the highest capital

number of shares outstanding in fiscal 2008

expenditures (¤ 23.9 million) in the history of

declined to 2.774 million (2007: 2.784 million).

A.S. Création. These unusual financing requirements could not be covered by the 2008 cash
flow, which amounted to ¤ 18.1 million (2007:

%ARNINGS PER SHARE

¤ 17.9 million), all the less so as the regular

æM











or the increase in trade receivables result












.ON RECURRENT TAX EFFECT

financing needs such as the dividend payments



ing from higher sales revenues needed to be
covered as well. Accordingly, A.S. Création’s
net financial liabilities (difference between
interest-bearing financial liabilities and cash
and cash equivalents) increased by ¤ 23.3 million from ¤ 14.5 million on December 31, 2007
to ¤ 37.8 million on the balance sheet date.
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The international financial and economic crisis
provided an unfavourable environment for the
financing of major acquisitions. The Managing

#ASH FLOW
IN æ M






Board nevertheless maintained its conservative
financing principles, which are characterised


$EPRECIATION
AND CHANGE IN
LONG TERM
PROVISIONS





%ARNINGS
AFTER TAX
PAYMENTS





by longer-term loans carrying fixed interest
rates. The Managing Board is therefore of the






opinion that the financial structure of A.S.
Création deserves to be described as robust
and sound even after the acquisitions. This
opinion is supported by the following balance





sheet figures:
• Based on equity of ¤ 83.1 million (2007:

In uncertain times, great importance is attached

¤ 76.9 million) as of December 31, 2008,

to liquidity. Given that a major portion of the

the equity ratio stands at a high level of 		

assets of A.S. Création are tied up in inventories

50.7% (2007: 61.7%).

and trade receivables, these items have traditionally (and not only recently in response to

• Equity and long-term debt capital are more

the financial crisis) been under great scrutiny.

than sufficient to finance the non-current

Accordingly, no surprises occurred in this

assets. As of December 31, 2008, the

respect in 2008. The imputed receivables

respective ratio stood at 193.2% (2007:

collection period remained almost unchanged

194.1%), which means that the “golden”

at 58 days (2007: 57 days). Imputed inventory

financing rule is more than fulfilled.

turnover deteriorated moderately and fell
from 5.3 in 2007 to 4.9 in fiscal 2008. This

• While the debt to equity ratio (net financial

decline had been anticipated in view of the

liabilities divided by equity) increased, it

sales situation in the second half of 2008, as

still stood at a low level of 45.5% as of

output could be adjusted to the lower sales

December 31, 2008 (2007: 18.9%).

level only with a certain delay.

The above figures show that A.S. Création is in

Profit appropriation

a sound position to master even the turbulent
economic times we are facing.

The Managing Board of A.S Création Tapeten
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¤ 8.9 million (or ¤ 3.22 per share) in fiscal 2008.

4OTAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL STRUCTURE
æ  M
æ  M

æ  M

In accordance with the traditional dividend
policy, the lower profit will be reflected in
a lower dividend. Accordingly, the Managing
Board will propose payment of a dividend of

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 


 


 
 

 


¤ 1.40 (2007: ¤ 1.60) per share to the General
Meeting of Shareholders, which is scheduled
for May 5, 2009. This represents a payout
ratio of 43.5% (2007: 44.6%). Based on the
number of 2.756 million shares outstanding
as of December 31, 2008, this will result in a

!SSETS

.ON CURRENT ASSETS
#URRENT ASSETS
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%QUITY AND ,IABILITIES

%QUITY
.ON CURRENT LIABILITIES
#URRENT LIABILITIES

total dividend volume of ¤ 3.9 million.
Compensation report

AG has always pursued a dividend policy that
provides for a high payout ratio as long as this

The compensation report is provided on

is permitted by the company's financial situa-

page 21 to 23 of the "Corporate Governance

tion. In the past years, the payout ratio of

Report" chapter. This audited compensation

A.S. Création settled at a level of 44% to 45%.

report is part of the Management Report.

Against the background of the deteriorating

Information to section 315 para. 4 of the

macroeconomic environment and the uncertain

German Commercial Code (HGB) and ex-

outlook for the year 2009, there would be

planatory report

many good reasons for adjusting the dividend
policy in order to maintain as much liquidity

According to Article 4 paragraph 1 and Article

within the company as possible. In view of

18 paragraph 1 of the current statutes of

A.S. Création’s sound financial structure, the

A.S. Création Tapeten AG (as amended on May 3,

Managing Board currently sees no reason to

2007), the share capital of A.S. Création Tape-

take such a step but rather aims to ensure the

ten AG amounts to ¤ 9,000,000 and is divided

continuity and reliability of A.S. Création's

into 3,000,000 no par value shares. Each share

dividend policy for the shareholders.

has one vote at the General Meeting of Share-

As explained under "Earnings position", the net

holders. This does not apply to own shares held

profit for the year declined from ¤ 10.0 million

by the company, from which no rights arise to

(or ¤ 3.59 per share) in the previous year to

the company.
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According to the notifications received in accor-

business purpose of the company.

dance with sections 15 a and 21 of the German
Securities Trading Act (WpHG), more than 10%

According to a resolution of the Shareholders'

of the voting rights in A.S. Création Tapeten AG

Meeting dated April 30, 2008, the Managing

are held by Mr Franz Jürgen Schneider, who

Board is authorised to acquire own shares up

holds 29.60%, and Ms Karin Schneider, who

to a par value of ¤ 900,000 (which represents

holds 10.06%.

a maximum of 10% of the share capital) until
October 29, 2009. The Managing Board is also

According to section 76 and 84 of the German

authorised to call in the shares acquired, to

Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and Article 6 of

resell them, in which case shareholders' sub-

the current statutes of A.S. Création Tapeten AG,

scription rights may be excluded under certain

the Managing Board must consist of a mini-

circumstances, or to use the shares acquired for

mum of two people. The exact number of

company acquisitions or equity investments.

Managing Board members is determined by the

As of December 31, 2008 the company helds

Supervisory Board of A.S. Création Tapeten AG.

243,649 own shares.

The Supervisory Board appoints the members
of the Managing Board for a maximum term

According to Article 4 paragraph 3 of the current

of five years. A re-appointment is permissible.

statutes of A.S. Création Tapeten AG, the

The Supervisory Board may appoint one member

Managing Board is authorised, until April 30,

as Chairman of the Managing Board. The Super-

2012, to increase the share capital, subject to

visory Board may revoke the appointment of

the approval of the Supervisory Board, by up to

a member or the Chairman for an important

¤ 4,500,000 through the issue of new shares

reason. Such important reasons are gross breach

against contributions in cash or kind (autho-

of duty, inability to manage the business

rised capital). Shareholders' subscription rights

properly or withdrawal of confidence by the

may be excluded in certain cases. As no use

Shareholders' Meeting.

has been made of this authorisation so far, the
authorised capital still amounted to ¤ 4,500,000

According to section 179 AktG and Article

as of December 31, 2008.

18 paragraph 2 of the current statutes of
A.S. Création Tapeten AG, the statutes may

A.S. Création Tapeten AG and OOO Kof Palitra

be amended by a resolution of the Share-

established a Russian joint venture under the

holders' Meeting with a simple majority of

name of OOO A.S. & Palitra, in which each of

the votes cast. A majority of three quarters

the partners holds 50% of the shares. In the

of the votes cast is required to change the

event of a material change in the shareholder
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structure of one of the two founding partners,

have a negative effect on A.S. Création's sales

the partnership agreement grants the respec-

revenues. According to current projections for

tive other party a purchase option for the other

the year 2009, consumer spending in nearly all

party’s shares in the joint venture.

countries served by A.S. Création will decline.
Experience has shown that spending on wall-

Opportunities and risks to the future devel-

papers is hardly reduced in a recession, given

opment

that they account for only a minor share of
total consumer spending. Unfortunately, this
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Any business activity inevitably entails certain

is not the case right now, as the wallpaper

risks. Throughout its company history, however,

industry is facing declining demand. Although

A.S. Création Tapeten AG has demonstrated its

the Managing Board does not expect a pro-

responsible approach to such risks. In the opinion

tracted, structural drop in demand for wallpa-

of the Managing Board, the high quality of

pers and therefore sees no potential risks that

our risk management system is an important

could jeopardise the company’s existence, the

basis for the successful development of our

shortfall in sales is having an adverse impact

company.

on the earnings position of A.S. Création.

A risk management system analyses potential

Industry-specific risks result from existing over-

risks by their "likelihood" and their "effect on

capacities in the wallpaper industry. Against

the company". The Managing Board pays special

the background of increased demand, new

attention to those factors that may have a

capacities for the production of wallpapers

strong negative effect on the company.

were installed in Western and Eastern Europe
in the past years. Due to the sudden drop in

The future development of the economy may

demand resulting from the global financial and

lead to risks for A.S. Création. The company's

economic crisis, the large European wallpaper

product portfolio is clearly positioned in the

manufacturers are currently no longer able to

consumer goods sector - over 90% of the wall-

fully utilise their own production capacities.

papers are used for renovation purposes, while

As outlined under “Important events after the

less than 10% are used for new buildings. Be-

end of the fiscal year”, this situation also affects

cause of their use, furnishing fabrics also qualify

A.S. Création. The Managing Board sees the

as consumer goods. A decline in consumer

risk of this underutilisation leading to ruinous

spending in the context of a recession may

price competition and, hence, to a new consoli-
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dation process in the global wallpaper industry.

restrictions and it is unlikely that the risk

The probability of this scenario materialising

classification of wallpapers will change in

will rise the longer the recession lasts. In view of

future.

its financial strength, A.S. Création considers
itself well positioned to emerge from a renewed
consolidation process as a winner.

• The above additives are also widely used
outside the wallpaper industry. If an additive is likely to be banned or subjected to

Another potential risk for the wallpaper indus-

restrictions, manufacturers will be under

try results from the more stringent legal pro-

great pressure to develop alternative solu-

visions regarding the use of chemicals in the

tions. A.S. Création liaises closely with its

production of wallpapers. New directives on

suppliers and will replace additives with

the use of plasticisers are currently being dis-

new, state-of-the-art solutions, which is

cussed at EU level. Just like other industries,

something the company has already done

the wallpaper industry uses such additives,

in the past.
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e.g. in the production of flat and expanded
vinyl wallpapers. Should these substances be

In the worst-case scenario of a general

banned in general, these types of wallpaper

prohibition of plasticisers, the entire wallpaper

could no longer be produced with current

industry would be equally affected. Such a

technology. There are two reasons, however,

change would therefore not lead to any

why the Managing Board considers this po-

distortions in the competitive situation.

tential risk to be relatively low:
In view of the special market conditions, a
• There have been frequent discussions about

potential risk exists with regard to the compa-

the potential health hazards posed by ad-

ny's procurement activities. For A.S. Création

ditives such as plasticisers in the past. The

as a customer, there are only few suppliers in

theoretical hazard depends on the use of

these markets, and the quantities purchased

the finished product. Given that wallpapers

by the wallpaper industry in general and

are in no way related to the intake of food

A.S. Création in particular are relatively small

and the rare physical contact is negligible,

from the suppliers' viewpoint. In the event

they do not pose any hazard if used properly.

of rising raw materials prices, A.S. Création

The sale of the wallpapers produced by

therefore has only limited negotiating clout

A.S. Création has never been subject to any

and few alternatives to choose from. Accord-
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ingly, A.S. Création was affected by the upward

materials and intermediate products required

trend in commodity and energy prices seen

by A.S. Création, the procurement risk increased

in recent years. The strategy pursued by A.S.

in the past years. Should A.S. Création be un-

Création aims to prevent long-term pressure

able to obtain the required quantities of a raw

on margins with the help of an innovation-

material or an intermediate product due to a

driven product policy. However, this strategy

general increase in demand or the loss of a

entails the risk that price increases on the

major supplier, this may lead to a temporary

procurement side can be passed on to cus-

production outage. With a view to mitiga-

tomers only with a certain delay. Fluctuations

ting this risk, A.S. Création analyses and tests

in the gross profit margin in individual fiscal

the quality and efficiency of new suppliers.

years can therefore not be ruled out. The long-

This process has already made the supplier

term analysis shows that these fluctuations

structure more international – a trend which

stayed within a narrow bandwidth of ± 2.5

the Managing Board expects to continue. In

percentage points around the 50% mark in

view of the general decline in demand for raw

the 10-year period from 1997 to 2006. The

materials as a result of the lower global out-

company was unable to maintain the gross

put, the Managing Board considers the risk of

profit margin within this bandwidth only in

insufficient availability to be much lower than

the last two fiscal years. At 45.7% (2007) and

in the previous year.

44.9 % (2008), the gross profit margin stood
at a very low level, which reflected the “ex-

No major risks exist in production and logistics.

ploding” commodity and energy prices. Given

The production plants represent the state of

that the trend in commodity and energy

the art, necessary capital expenditures in re-

prices turned around in the second half of 2008,

placements and new capacity are made on an

the Managing Board of A.S. Création currently

ongoing basis and can be funded from the

sees no risk arising from procurement prices.

company's cash flow. The automatic high-bay
warehouses in Wiehl-Bomig and Gummersbach-

Another potential risk on the procurement side

Derschlag and the efficient order-picking

relates to the availability of raw materials and/

facilities mean that A.S. Création Tapeten AG

or intermediate products of adequate quality.

operates one of the most advanced logistics

Due to the sharp rise in global demand for raw

centres in the wallpaper industry.

materials, in conjunction with the concentration among the suppliers providing the raw

On the sales side, Eastern Europe's great im-
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portance as a sales region for wallpapers should

manufacturers. While the Russian rouble

be mentioned. In 2008, the Wallpaper Division

(RUB), for instance, appreciated steadily

generated 32.4% of its gross sales in non-EU

against the euro between early 2006 and

Eastern European countries. Given that A.S.

mid-2008, thus leading to improved export

Création has not yet opened a production

conditions for A.S. Création, the Russian

facility in this region, the export of wallpapers

currency has clearly lost in value since

to Eastern Europe is a key requirement to

mid-2008. On June 30, 2008, RUB 100

ensure that the capacities of the two German

were equivalent to € 2.70 but this declined

production plants are utilised. Should exports

to € 2.25 as of mid-February 2009. This

to these countries become more difficult, this

represents a depreciation by approx. 17%.

could have an adverse impact on the sales

As a result, A.S. Création’s competitive

and earnings position of A.S. Création. Such a

position in relation to local manufacturers

situation could arise from factors such as:

has deteriorated. As the RUB is projected
to depreciate even further, the risk of de-

• Growing protectionism

clining sales rises.

Higher customs duties or import restrictions
may impede wallpaper exports to these

• Growing competition from local

countries or even make them impossible.

manufacturers

The Managing Board considers this risk to

Growing competition from local wallpaper

be relatively low, as these countries are

manufacturers could make exports to these

aiming for a stronger integration into world

countries more difficult. The Managing

trade. This applies to Russia, in particular,

Board of A.S. Création Tapeten AG considers

which is A.S. Création's single most impor-

the current potential risks to be relatively

tant output market in the region.

low for two reasons. First, most of the
products exported to Eastern Europe by

• Depreciation of the local currencies

A.S. Création are high-quality wallpapers,

against the euro

whose quality is matched by local manu-

A.S. Création invoices its products in euros

facturers only to a limited extent. Second,

in Eastern Europe. A depreciation of the local

wallpapers are fashion products and there

currencies against the euro makes the wall-

will always be demand for extraordinary

papers of A.S. Création more expensive in

and innovative products also in Eastern

comparison with the wallpapers of local

European markets. In addition, the "Made
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in Germany" label continues to serve as an

risks, it is therefore important not to neglect

argument in favour of wallpapers. In this

the overall risk. The Managing Board of A.S.

context, A.S. Création benefits from the

Création Tapeten AG considers the overall risk

fact that the purchasing power of the lo-

to be relatively low. The likelihood of risks mate-

cal population has tended to grow in line

rialising that would jeopardise the company's

with the economy. The Managing Board

continued existence is also relatively low. In

acknowledges, however, that some Eastern

the Managing Board's opinion, the scope of

European wallpaper manufacturers have

the risk management system, which is an

recently made impressive progress with

integral element of A.S. Création's reporting

regard to the design and quality of their

system, is sufficient.

products. The Managing Board will therefore monitor the competitive situation

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,

very closely going forward.

Cologne, has reviewed the risk management
system of A.S. Création Tapeten AG and confi-
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As outlined in the analysis of the financial

rmed that the risks to the future development

situation, the traditionally strong cash flow and

may be identified and documented by the

the robust financial structure mean that no

early risk identification system established in

finance and liquidity bottlenecks are expected.

accordance with section 91 of the German

Due to the specific structure of the A.S. Création

Stock Corporation Law (AktG) and that they

Group, interest rate or currency hedges and

have been properly presented in the manage-

financial derivatives play only a minor role. Such

ment report.

hedges are generally taken out only for specific
underlying transactions. As of December 31,

Important events after the end of the fiscal

2008, there was one interest rate swap with a

year

negative market value of € 0.275 million.
While sales declined already in the fourth quarter
In recent years, issues such as risks, risk man-

of 2008, this trend accelerated markedly at the

agement, risk reporting, etc. have attracted great

beginning of the fiscal year 2009. In the first

attention in the public. As mentioned before,

weeks of January, incoming orders at A.S. Création

however, any corporate activity necessarily

Tapeten AG were down by approx. 20% on the

entails certain risks. Against the background

same period of the previous year. This decline

of the large number of potential individual

was exclusively attributable to the export

MANAGEMENT REPORT

markets, especially Eastern Europe. In response

A rise in the euro-zone jobless rate from 7.5%

to the unexpectedly sharp drop in orders,

in 2008 to 8.5% in 2009 appears likely from

A.S. Création Tapeten AG introduced short-time

today’s point of view. Given that consumers will

working at the two production plants in

reduce their spending in such an environment,

Wiehl-Bomig and Gummersbach-Derschlag

consumer spending is projected to decline by

and in parts of the administration with effect

approx. 1%. As exports will also fail to stimu-

from February 1, 2009. Since then, most of

late growth in 2009, GDP is expected to shrink

the production lines have operated only three

by 2% to 3%.

days a week.
The deepest recession ever is expected also for
Outlook

Germany in 2009, as exports are likely to collapse
and fall approx. 6% below the level of 2008.

All economic projections agree that the world

This will hit the export-driven German economy

economy will be in a recession in 2009. The

particularly hard. Similar to the euro-zone,

only differences exist with regard to the depth

Germany’s GDP will shrink by between 2%

and duration of the recession, as the effects

and 3%. Consumer spending will probably

of the various economic stimulus packages and

decline by 0.5%.

the expansionary fiscal policy are unknown.
Also, it remains to be seen whether a continued

The situation in the Eastern European non-EU

negative newsflow from the financial and

markets that are relevant for A.S. Création is

insurance sector will lead to a further loss

also expected to deteriorate markedly in 2009.

of confidence. Due to these uncertainties,

Russian GDP is projected to grow by only 1 %,

the bandwidths of the economic projections

while a 4.5 % contraction is on the cards for

for 2009 are very large. The figures below

Ukraine.

therefore reflect only one of several possible
scenarios.

The outlook for the trend in commodity and
energy prices is much more optimistic than in

Capital spending throughout the euro-zone is

the past years. Due to the sharp drop in demand

expected to decline by approx. 8% in 2009. In

as a result of the economic crisis, the oil price

conjunction with production cuts and a growing

is expected to continue to decline in the course

number of bankruptcies, this will probably entail

of 2009, which means that energy prices are set

a marked deterioration in the labour market.

to decline. In this event, the prices of oil-based
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materials such as PVC and paint will also come

capital expenditures in 2009 as compared to

under pressure in 2009. A.S. Création is there-

the previous years. In particular, the planned

fore likely to benefit from easing procurement

expansion of the logistic activities will be

prices for the first time in many years.

postponed to a later date. This will not affect
the development of new products, though.

Conclusion: The decline in consumer spend-

A.S. Création will offer its customers attractive

ing anticipated for 2009 is a negative for

products and innovative sales concepts espe-

A.S. Création. The fact that all output markets

cially in poor economic times to provide retail-

of A.S. Création are likely to be affected by the

ers with the best possible support.

economic downturn makes the macroeco-
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nomic outlook for 2009 look very bleak. The

The Furnishing Fabrics Division also expects

situation is compounded by the uncertainty

the year 2009 to be characterised by declin-

about the duration of the recession. It remains

ing sales and earnings. There are no signs that

to be seen whether the lower commodity and

demand for furnishing fabrics will be exempt

energy prices will help to offset at least part

from the general downward trend in consumer

of the pressure on earnings that will result

spending. Given the highly fragmented supplier

from declining sales.

structure in the German home textiles sector,
the Managing Board considers bankruptcies in

The Wallpaper Division will operate in a market

this sector to be much more likely than in the

environment characterised by much lower de-

wallpaper industry. The fact that A.S. Création’s

mand for wallpapers in 2009. The Managing

Furnishing Fabrics Division has already com-

Board therefore expects market players to be

pleted its reorganisation and improved its

driven out of the market as a result of increa-

profitability in the past years means that it will

singly fierce competition not only at the product

go into the anticipated consolidation process

level but also at the price level. Against this

from a very good position.

background, it can no longer be ruled out that
even large companies collapse. A.S. Création

For the first time in ten years, the Managing

will enter this consolidation phase only shortly

Board is unable to make reliable projections

after its takeover of the two French whole-

for the next fiscal year.

salers, MCF Investissement SA and SCE SA.
To maintain its financial flexibility, the Wall-

What appears certain from today’s point of view

paper Division will clearly scale down its

is that sales will decline in 2009. This means

MANAGEMENT REPORT

that sales will remain below the € 218 million

One of the main objectives for 2009 is to cover

that would have been reported for 2008 if the

the company’s financing requirements from

revenues of the newly acquired French opera-

the cash flow in order to avoid a further in-

tions had been included. It is impossible to

crease in net financial liabilities. As described

say how far below this level sales will remain

above, A.S. Création has a sound financial

in 2009, as the wallpaper industry – unlike the

structure and sufficient borrowing capacity,

capital goods sector – is not characterised by

but it is impossible to predict on what terms

long-term order backlogs that would allow

loans will be available in 2009. The Managing

a conclusion to be drawn as to the capacity

Board therefore prefers to play it safe and

utilisation in the coming months.

reduce the company’s net financial liabilities.

The earnings position in 2009 will largely

The Managing Board is well aware of its

be determined not only by sales revenues

responsibility to ensure a safe future for the

but also by the gross profit margin. While it

A.S. Création Group and, hence, for its em-

is possible that the gross profit margin will

ployees. The main challenge in 2009, which

rise due to declining procurement costs, it

started on a very negative note, will be to

may – in a worst case scenario – just as well

take all decisions with circumspection.

decline even further as a result of ruinous
price competition.

Statement pursuant to section 315 paragraph 1 sentence 6 of the German Com-

As it is impossible to predict what the economic

mercial Code (HGB)

environment will look like in the course of 2009,
the Managing Board will closely monitor the

To the best of our knowledge, and in accord-

situation. Given that A.S. Création has a good

ance with the applicable reporting principles

strategic position and both Divisions operate

for financial reporting, the consolidated finan-

profitably, the Managing Board sees no reason

cial statements give a true and fair view of

why it should change the Group’s general

the assets, liabilities, financial position and

strategy. Right on the contrary, A.S. Création

profit or loss of the Group, and the manage-

will convince its customers of its excellent

ment report of the Group includes a fair review

abilities by offering them innovative products,

of the development and performance of the

new sales concepts and first-class service in

business and the position of the Group, to-

the difficult year 2009.

gether with a description of the principal
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opportunities and risks associated with the
expected development of the Group for the
remaining months of the financial year.
Gummersbach, February 23, 2009
A.S. Création Tapeten AG
The Managing Board

Kämper
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Share prices drop across the board
In the course of 2008, share prices plummeted
across the world. Unlike the previous year,
these price drops affected not only secondtier stocks but also blue chips. Germany’s DAX
lost 40.4%, while the MDAX and the SDAX
lost 43.2% and 46.1%, respectively. These
price slumps hit nearly all sectors – albeit
to varying extents. This drop in share prices
across the board was the result of investors
fleeing from equities in response to what is a
consistently deteriorating economic outlook.
With the financial crisis spreading in the second

THE SHARE AND OUR SHAREHOLDERS

half of 2007, the negative newsflow from the
banking and insurance sector accelerated in
2008. Apart from valuation allowances and
writedowns (and hence losses) of unprecedented proportions, confidence in the financial
sector was shaken primarily by the realisation
that a number of large, renowned banks and
insurance companies had indulged in business
practices that can only be described as scandalous and careless.
Especially in the second half of 2008, it became

of the international financial system, with

increasingly clear that the crisis was not con-

parallels drawn to the global economic crisis

fined to the financial sector but would also have

of the 1930s. In this pessimistic environment,

negative effects on what is called the “real

investors sold huge amounts of shares in what

economy”. In this context, market participants

looked like a state of panic, leading to the

even discussed scenarios such as the collapse

price drops, mentioned above.
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A.S. Création share: Sharp price drop

structure, the viable business model, which
will probably lead to profits even in the very

Contrary to the previous year, the A.S. Création

difficult environment prevailing in 2009, and

share was unable to isolate itself from the

the positive outlook for wallpapers as a product,

general price trend and lost 60.6% in value.

the capital market’s valuation of A.S. Création

At ¤ 17.93, the year-end price was ¤ 27.57

doesn´t even reflect its breakup value. The

below the price at which the share had opened

Managing Board is therefore of the opinion

the year (¤ 45.50). Based on the year-end price

that the current stock market valuation com-

of ¤ 17.93 and the 2,756,351 shares outstand-

pletely ignores the economic realities and

ing as of December 31, 2008, A.S. Création

therefore cannot last long.

has a market value of ¤ 49.4 million. Com-
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pared to the previous year’s ¤ 126.7 million,

The chart below shows that the A.S. Création

A.S. Création has thus lost ¤ 77.3 million

share performed more or less in line with the

of its market capitalisation in the course of

SDAX in 2008, with the SDAX outperforming

twelve months. Compared to the balance

the A.S. Création share only in the final quar-

sheet equity, which amounted to ¤ 83.1 million

ter. The trading volume of the A.S. Création

as of December 31, 2008, this market capi-

share increased markedly in the fourth quarter

talisation was 40.5% below the company’s

of 2008. While an average of 2,086 A.S. Créa-

net asset value. In spite of the sound financial

tion shares were traded per day on the Frank-
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furt trading floor and the Xetra trading system

the long-term share price performance.

in 2008 as a whole, the average for the fourth
quarter was 4,122 shares. This selling pressure

This long-term view highlights the strengths

sent the price of the A.S. Création share falling

of the A.S. Création share as a “dividend

to an annual low of ¤ 13.91 on December 10,

paper”. The share price may slump all of

2008. It is difficult to say whether this decline

a sudden, as the year 2008 has shown so

is attributable to the modest outlook presented

graphically. But ongoing dividend payments

by the Managing Board upon the publica-

reduce the risk for the investor. Between 2004

tion of the quarterly report for the period

and 2008, the shareholders of A.S. Création

ended September 30, 2008 or to funds that

received cumulative dividend payments of

were forced to sell larger blocks of shares

¤ 6.30 per share. An investor with a long-

in response to their customers withdrawing

term horizon who acquired the A.S. Création

capital. But the fact is that the price slump

share at the beginning of 2004 at a price

in 2008 has eaten up the price gains of

of ¤ 15.80 and sold it at ¤ 17.93 at the end

the past five years almost entirely and that

of 2008 generated a return of ¤ 8.43 on his

the price of the A.S. Création share on De-

5-year investment in A.S. Création, which is

cember 30, 2008 (¤ 17.93) was only 13.5%

equivalent to an average return of 8.9% p.a..

above the price quoted at the beginning
of 2004 (¤ 15.80). The chart below shows
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Consistent dividend policy in spite of the

At ¤ 1.40, the absolute dividend is ¤ 0.20 lower

financial crisis

than last year’s dividend of ¤ 1.60 due to the
lower result. The management report describes

A.S. Création has always aimed for a high divi-

in detail that the decline in the net profit for

dend payout ratio as long as this is permitted

the year from ¤ 10.0 million in 2007 to ¤ 8.9

by the company's financial situation. In recent

million in 2008 is not least attributable to the

years, dividend payouts have consistently been

non-recurrence of a special tax effect in an

in the 44% to 45% of EPS range. Against the

amount of ¤ 1.1 million, which had a positive

background of the deteriorating macroeco-

impact on the net profit for the year 2007.

nomic environment and the uncertain outlook

The chart below shows the dividends paid out

for the year 2009 there would be many good

by A.S. Création adjusted for the special tax

reasons for adjusting the dividend policy in

effects (in both 2006 and 2007).

order to maintain as much liquidity for the
company as possible. The Managing Board and
58

the Supervisory Board nevertheless want to
maintain the company's dividend policy. This
step is designed to ensure the continuity and

$IVIDEND PER SHARE
IN æ

reliability of A.S. Création's dividend policy for



the shareholders. Given that A.S. Création's









financial position, which is characterised by




an equity ratio of 50.7% as of December 31,


2008, allows a profit distribution, a dividend
of ¤ 1.40 per share will be proposed to the
General Meeting of Shareholders. At 43.5%,
the payout ratio will thus reach the high level
that is typical of A.S. Création.
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Continued stock repurchases

reduced its share in A.S. Création to 4.85%
in December 2008. As the shareholding has

On May 13, 2008, the Managing Board an-

dropped below the 5% threshold, it is now

nounced that the company planned to repur-

counted as free float pursuant to the defini-

chase own shares in an amount of ¤ 1.0 million

tion of Deutsche Börse AG. By contrast, US

via the stock exchange by October 31, 2008.

investment company Royce & Associates LLC,

Due to the decline in the share price in the

New York, increased its stake in A.S. Création

course of the year, this amount was not fully

from 5.02% (as at August 17, 2007) to 8.47%

used. Up to October 31, 2008, A.S. Création

on the balance sheet date.

spent a total amount of ¤ 0.9 million to repurchase 28,096 own shares. This was equivalent

To the knowledge of the Managing Board, the

to an average purchase price of ¤ 32.36 per

company had the following shareholder struc-

share. Together with the shares bought back

ture as of December 31, 2008:

in the past, A.S. Création Tapeten AG held
59

243,649 own shares as of December 31, 2008.
These shares, whose acquisition cost amounts
to ¤ 4.0 million or ¤ 16.50 per share, rep-

3HAREHOLDER 3TRUCTURE

resent 8.12% of the company’s share capital.
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Changes in the shareholder structure
Apart from the increase in the number of own
shares held by the company, other changes
to the shareholder structure of A.S. Création
occurred in 2008. Ratio Asset Management
LLP, London, a UK investment company,
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Key figures of the A.S. Création share		

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Earnings per share

€/share

2.37

2.78

3.65

3.59

3.22

Dividend

€/share

1.05

1.25

1.65

1.60

1.40

%

44.3

45.0

45.2

44.6

43.5

Year-closing-price

€/share

23.55

28.30

36.00

45.50

17.93

High

€/share

24.20

31.90

39.00

53.40

45.50

Low

€/share

16.80

22.58

28.05

35.10

13.91

Shares outstanding (year end)

million

2.784

2.784

2.784

2.784

2.756

Average trading volume *

pieces

2,097

3,526

2,738

2,429

2,086

Market value (year-end)

€ '000

65,573

78,799

100,239

126,691

49,421

Equity (book value)

€ '000

59,984

64,799

71,485

76,901

83,128

%

109.3

121.6

140.2

164.7

59.5

Price-earnings-ratio		

9.9

10.2

9.9

12.7

5.6

Dividend yield

4.5

4.4

4.6

3.5

7.8

Payout ratio

Market value/Equity

%

60
* Average daily trading volume of A.S. Création shares at Frankfurt Stock Exchange and via Xetra (electronic trading system)
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Consolidated balance sheet
as per December 31, 2008

Assets		

66

Notes
No.

31.12. 2008
¤

31.12. 2007
¤

Tangible fixed assets

(1)

51,310,852.65

49,331,824.00

Intangible fixed assets

(2)

10,744,763.88

1,414,026.40

Investments accounted for at equity

(3)

105,443.21

0.00

Other assets

(4)

883,711.78

646,462.51

Income tax receivables

(5)

2,003,719.01

2,210,462.32

Deferred tax assets

(6)

512,607.86

403,967.00

Non-current assets		

65,561,098.39

54,006,742.23

Inventories

(7)

46,594,152.59

33,963,158.53

Trade receivables

(8)

40,886,195.89

27,898,258.54

Other assets

(4)

5,806,748.71

4,385,549.53

Income tax receivables		

1,438,994.79

303,702.40

Cash and cash equivalents

(9)

3,641,244.90

3,999,999.34

Current assets		

98,367,336.88

70,550,668.34

Total assets		

163,928,435.27 124,557,410.57
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Equity and Liabilities
Notes
No.

31.12. 2008
¤

31.12. 2007
¤

Capital stock		

9,000,000.00

9,000,000.00

Capital reserves		

13,756,740.32

13,756,740.32

Revenue reserves		

41,496,138.03

38,436,835.13

Profit carried forward		

11,070,893.83

8,793,777.57

Net profit		

8,924,878.71

9,982,188.26

Adjustment for own shares		

-4,020,836.57

-3,112,519.31

Currency translation differences		

60,195.03

44,117.87

Minority interests in equity		

2,840,431.78

0.00

Equity

(10)

83,128,441.13

76,901,139.84

Financial liabilities (interest-bearing)

(11)

31,473,638.73

17,209,951.47

Other liabilities

(12)

504,871.14

208,665.76

Provisions for pensions

(13)

6,013,719.90

5,799,788.97

Deferred tax liabilities

(6)

5,539,200.25

4,703,288.91

Non-current liabilities		

43,531,430.02

27,921,695.11

Financial liabilities (interest-bearing)

(11)

9,960,040.65

1,293,912.27

Other liabilities

(12)

16,191,017.38

9,058,740.86

Trade payables		

10,750,851.09

9,218,022.49

119,900.00

130,900.00

246,755.00

33,000.00

37,268,564.12

19,734,575.62

Total equity and liabilities		 163,928,435.27

124,557,410.57

Other provisions

(14)

Tax liabilities
Current liabilities		

67

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRs

Consolidated income statement
for the period from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008

Notes
No.

2008
¤

2007
¤

(16)

176,216,334.80

167,632,704.01

Increase or decrease in unfinished
and finished goods		

4,042,223.96

4,624,655.06

Other own work capitalised		

10,350.00

25,733.75

Total output		 180,268,908.76

172,283,092.82

Sales

Cost of materials

(17)

99,259,691.25

93,599,354.10

Gross profit		

81,009,217.51

78,683,738.72

724,820.49

2,281,521.80

81,734,038.00

80,965,260.52

Other operating income

(18)
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Personnel expenses

(19)

36,178,033.78

34,778,944.05

Depreciation

(20)

8,215,484.05

8,396,688.60

Operating taxes		

199,165.07

182,263.73

23,639,616.99

22,602,321.09

Operating expenses		

68,232,299.89

65,960,217.47

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)		

13,501,738.11

15,005,043.05

Interest and similar income		

680,945.48

739,832.60

Results from investments accounted for at equity		

-29,383.17

0.00

Interest and similar expenses		

1,297,518.12

1,183,206.42

(22)

-645,955.81

-443,373.82

Earnings before income taxes		

12,855,782.30

14,561,669.23

(23)

3,930,903.59

4,579,480.97

Net profit		

8,924,878.71

9,982,188.26

3.22

3.59

Other operating expenses

Financial result

Income taxes

Earnings per share

(21)

(24)
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the period from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008

		
		

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ € ’000

Operating activities		
Net profit

8,925

9,982

+

8,215

8,397

-277

-352

29

0

-/+ Increase/decrease in present value of corporate income tax credit

199

-98

-/+ Income/expenses from changes in deferred taxes

967

-3

18,058

17,926

-42

-60

–/+ Increase/decrease in inventories*

-3,374

-4,955

–/+ Increase/decrease in trade receivables *

-1,268

-3,105

+/– Increase/decrease in trade payables *

-4,651

625

-271

1,028

8,452

11,459

Depreciation on tangible and intangible fixed asset

+/- Increase/decrease in long-term provisions *
-/+ Income/expenses from investments accounted for at equity

Cash-flow
-/+ Profit/losses from disposal of tangible and intangible fixed assets

–/+ Increase/decrease in other net working capital *
Cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities		
Capital expenditures on tangible and intangible fixed assets
-

–9,013

–11,232

Cash outflows for acquisitions of consolidated companies		
(less acquired cash and cash equivalents)
–14,728

0

-

Cash outflows for at equity investments

-152

0

+

Proceeds from the disposal of tangible and intangible fixed assets

81

157

-23,812

-11,075

Cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities		
Dividend payment of A.S. Création Tapeten AG

-4,455

-4,594

-908

0

21,637

11,968

-

Cash outflows for the purchase of own shares

+

Raising of financial liabilities (excl. financial lease)

-

Repayment of financial liabilities (excl. financial lease)

-918

-1,643

–

Repayment of liabilities under financial leasing contracts

-355

-7,662

15,001

-1,931

-359

-1,547

4,000

5,547

3,641

4,000

Cash inflow/outflow from financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
+

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

* These positions do not include effects, depending on a change in scope of consolidation.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the period from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008

Capital Capital Revenue
Profit
Net Adjust- Currency MinorityStock reserve reserves
carried
Profit ment for translation
interest
				 forward		
own differences in equity
							
shares		
€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

9,000

13,757

32,937

8,714

10,174

–3,113

16

0

71,485

Net profit 2006

0

0

0

10,174 -10,174

0

0

0

0

Dividend payments

0

0

0

-4,594

0

0

0

0

-4,594

Allocation to
revenue reserve

0

0

5,500

–5,500

0

0

0

0

0

Net profit 2007

0

0

0

0

9,982

0

0

0

9,982

Changes recognized
directly in equity

0

0

0

0

0

0

28

0

28

December 31, 2007

9,000

13,757

38,437

8,794

9,982

–3,113

44

0

76,901

Net profit 2007

0

0

0

9,982

-9,982

0

0

0

0

Dividend payments

0

0

0

-4,455

0

0

0

0

-4,455

Allocation to
revenue reserve

0

0

3,250

–3,250

0

0

0

0

0

Own shares

0

0

0

0

0

-908

0

0

-908

Net profit 2008

0

0

0

0

8,925

0

0

0

8,925

Addition to scope
of consolidation

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,840

2,840

Changes recognized
directly in equity

0

0

-191

0

0

0

16

0

-175

December 31, 2008

9,000

13,757

41,496

11,071

8,925

-4,021

60

2,840

83,128

December 31, 2006
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Total

The amount of € -0.175 million (2007: € 0.028 million) directly recognised in equity comprises the
change in currency translation differences from subsidiaries outside the euro-zone in an amount of
€ 0.016 million (2007: € 0.028 million) as well as changes in the market value of an interest rate
hedge after deferred taxes in an amount of € -0.191 million (previous year: € 0.0 million).
Together with the income and expenses recognised in net profit in an amount of € 8.925 million
(2007: € 9.982 million), the changes in equity total € 8.750 million (2007: € 10.010 million).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for fiscal year 2008

General
A.S. Création Tapeten AG is a joint stock company registered in the Federal Republic of Germany.
The address of the headquarters is Südstrasse 47, D-51645 Gummersbach.
The consolidated financial statements and the Group management report were prepared by
A.S. Création Tapeten AG on the basis of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the European Union and the additional requirements pursuant to section 315a
paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch HGB).
A.S. Création Tapeten AG has a policy of applying new IFRS as soon as they become effective.
The newly published IFRS and the interpretations of the International Accounting Standard
Board (IASB) had no effect on the assets, liabilities, financial position and earnings position of
A.S. Création.
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For the sake of clarity, individual items have been summarised in the balance sheet and the
income statement. The summarised items are shown and explained in detail in the notes.
The type of expenditure format has been chosen for the income statement.
The Group's business activities mainly comprise the development, production and sale of wallpapers in all main materials and for all main purposes. The product range includes paper, textured,
vinyl and non-woven wallpapers as well as borders. The spectrum of activities is complemented
by the trade in furnishing fabrics. In line with the Group's products and services, segment
reports according to IAS 14 are prepared for the Wallpaper Division (segment) and the Furnishing
Fabrics Division (segment).
Consolidation principles
Subsidiaries which are managed by A.S. Création Tapeten AG and in which A.S. Création Tapeten AG
or one of its subsidiaries hold the majority of voting rights are fully consolidated. In accordance
with IAS 28 and IAS 31, associated companies and jointly controlled companies are accounted
for using the equity method. Pursuant to IAS 39, other investments are either recognised at
market values or, if such a market value does not exist and could not be determined to a
sufficient degree of reliability, at cost.
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The financial statements of domestic and foreign subsidiaries included in the consolidated
financial statements were prepared using consistent Group-wide accounting and valuation
principles in accordance with IFRS regulations.
Capital consolidation is effected using the purchase method. Under this method, the book values
of the consolidated subsidiaries are set off against their respective shares in the revalued equity
at the time of first consolidation. In the revaluation, the assets and liabilities of the acquired
companies are stated at their current market values at the time of first consolidation. Goodwill
arising in the first consolidation is capitalised and, in accordance with IFRS 3, subjected to an
impairment test on an annual basis or, if special incidents suggest a value impairment, also in
the course of a year. According to IFRS, this impairment test must be performed on the basis of
the so-called cash generating units to which the goodwill is assigned. In the case of A.S. Création,
these are the Wallpaper Division and the Furnishing Fabrics Division. In the context of this
impairment test, the book value of the division is compared with the so-called recoverable
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amount. This amount is the higher of the present value of the future cash flows that will be
derived from the division (so-called value in use) or the sales price (less costs to sell) that could
be obtained for this division. If the book value exceeds the recoverable amount, the difference
represents the impairment that needs to be stated as extraordinary depreciation in the income
statement of the respective financial year. If the book value is lower than the recoverable
amount, no adjustment is required.
Receivables and liabilities, intragroup sales as well as expenses and income are set off against
each other. Intercompany profits and losses in non-current assets and inventories are eliminated
with the effect shown in the income statement. Intragroup value adjustments and provisions are
written back.
Where consolidation processes whose effects are shown in the income statement are concerned,
the effects on income taxes are taken into account and deferred taxes are established for
temporary differences resulting from consolidation processes.
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Notes on the consolidated entity
Next to A.S. Création Tapeten AG ten subsidiaries are consolidated. Compared to the previous
year, the number of consolidated companies increased by four. Three companies joined the basis
of consolidation through the acquisition of shares, while one company was newly established.
Innova Tapeten GmbH i. L., Gummersbach, which was not included in the consolidated financial
statements in the previous years for reasons of negligibility in accordance with IAS 1, was
merged with A.S. Création Tapeten AG in fiscal 2008.
The table below shows the fully consolidated companies:
No. Company, location
held by
					

Share
in %

Nominal capital
Dec. 31, 2008

Wallpaper Division
1		 A.S. Création Tapeten AG, Gummersbach/Germany			

9,000,000.00 ¤

2		 A S Creation (UK) Limited, Formby/UK

No. 1

100.00

100,000.00 £

3		 A.S. Création (NL) B.V., Werkendam/Netherlands

No. 1

100.00

20,000.00 ¤

4		 A.S. Création (France) SAS, Lyon/France

No. 1

100.00

340,000.00 ¤

5		 MCF Investissement SA, Ballancourt/France

No. 4

70.01

460,350.00 ¤

6		 SCE-Société de conception d’édition SA, Boves/France

No. 4

75.03

2,000,000.00 ¤

7		 SCE Investissements SC, Boves/France

No. 6

86.00

1,000.00 ¤

8		 A.S. Création Textil GmbH, Marienheide/Germany

No. 1

100.00

500,000.00 ¤

9		 Indes Wohntextil GmbH, Marienheide/Germany

No. 8

100.00

500,000.00 ¤

10 FUGGERHAUS Stoffe GmbH, Marienheide/Germany

No. 8

100.00

500,000.00 ¤

Furnishing Fabrics Division

In addition, OOO A.S. & Palitra, Zheleznodorozhny/Russia, in which A.S. Création Tapeten AG
holds 50.0%, is accounted for using the equity method.
All financial statements included in the consolidated financial statements were established as of
December 31, 2008 and were audited by independent chartered accountants or reviewed by the
Group’s auditors.
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Currency translation
A.S. Création Tapeten AG's reporting currency is the euro (€).
Assets and debts denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at the
time of addition and adjusted to the respective closing rate at every balance sheet date. Resulting translation differences are shown in the income statement.
In accordance with IAS 21, foreign currencies of subsidiaries in non-EMU countries are translated
according to the functional currency concept using the modified closing rate method. Under this
method, changes in non-current assets are translated at average annual rates, equity is translated
at historical rates and all other balance sheet items are translated at closing rates. Differences
referring to non-current assets are shown in the development of the Group's tangible and intangible fixed assets schedule in the "Currency translation" line. All items in the income statement
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are translated at the average annual rate. Currency differences are not recognised in the income
statement but are allocated to the currency translation differences within the equity. Translation
differences from debt consolidation are recognised in the income statement. An average annual
rate of £ 0.79645/€ (2007: £ 0.68424/€) and a closing rate of £ 0.95890/€ (2007: £ 0.73470/€)
were used for the pound sterling, while an average annual rate of RUB 36.10969/€ and a closing
rate of RUB 41.90000/€ were applied for the Russian rouble.
Accounting and valuation principles
Intangible fixed assets - with the exception of the goodwill acquired - are valued at cost less
scheduled depreciation. They are written off using the straight-line method over their expected
useful lives of mostly three to five years and no more than ten years.
Acquired goodwill is not written off systematically but is regularly subjected to an impairment
test. Accordingly, acquired goodwill is measured at cost less the value impairment potentially
resulting from the impairment test.
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In accordance with IAS 38, development costs for new designs are not capitalised because of
the short product cycles and uncertain future financial returns.
Tangible fixed assets are reported at the cost of acquisition or production to be capitalised. In
accordance with IAS 17, assets acquired under finance leases are shown at their current market value at the beginning of the lease.
With the exception of printing rollers and rotary screens, tangible fixed assets subject to
depreciation are written off using the straight-line method. Depreciation is based on the
following useful economic lives:
Buildings

10 to 30 years

High-bay warehouses

20 years

Large machines

10 to 15 years

Other machines

3 to 10 years

Other plant, furniture and fixtures

3 to 10 years

Fixed assets are written down on a pro rata temporis basis in the year of acquisition.
Printing rollers and rotary screens are written off using the unit-of-production method over
a period of three years. For reasons of simplification it is assumed that the printing tools are
disposed from fixed assets after they have been written off completely.
Raw materials and supplies as well as merchandise are shown at the weighted average cost
of acquisition or the lower net sales value on the balance sheet date. Finished and unfinished
products are reported at the cost of production or the lower net sales value on the balance
sheet date. The cost of production generally includes not only the directly attributable cost but
also the factory overhead as well as depreciation. Interest on borrowings is not included in the
cost of acquisition or production. Inventory risks due to reduced usability are adequately taken
into account.
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Receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less potential
value impairments. The value impairments appropriately reflect the expected risk of default.
The allowances are booked in separate allowance accounts. Receivables are written off only in
case of an actual default. Where trade receivables are concerned, the risk of default is initially
determined by analysing the customer's historical payment behaviour on an individualized
basis (allowances for individual impairments). Thereafter, receivables are grouped on the basis
of identical risk features and the risk of default of the respective groups is analysed (allowances
for collective impairments).
Other assets and cash and cash equivalents are shown at their nominal values.
Provisions are established for contingent liabilities from pension obligations. These are determined
in accordance with IAS 19 by using the actuarial projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains
and losses are recognised in full in the income statement in the year in which they occur.
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Interest costs included in the pension expenses as well as any actuarial gain or loss resulting
from a change in the interest rate for discounting purposes are shown in the financial result.
All other provisions are reported at the amount likely to be required to cover discernible risks
and contingent liabilities.
Liabilities under finance leases are reported at the present value using the interest rates on
which the individual leasing agreements are based.
Other liabilities are shown at the amount of the liability as of the balance sheet date.
In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognised for different valuations of assets and
liabilities to IFRS and in the tax balance sheet, for consolidation processes and for realisable
tax losses carried forward. Country-specific tax rates are used. The tax rate in Germany, which
comprises trade tax, corporate income tax and the solidarity surcharge, is 30.71%.
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Expenses and income are shown at the time of realisation. Sales revenues are realised at the
time of the passage of risk, usually upon delivery. The regional breakdown of sales is based on
the locations of customers' headquarters or, if the delivery address differs from the address of
the headquarters, on the delivery address. Operating expenses are recognised at the time the
underlying services are used, while advertising and sales promotion expenses are recognised at
the time they are incurred. Interest and other cost of debt are accounted for as expenditure in
the accounting period.
International Financial Reporting Standards require assumptions and estimates for certain items
shown in the balance sheet, contingent liabilities as well as income and expenses. The actual
values may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the balance sheet
(1) Tangible fixed assets
The individual tangible fixed asset items and their development are shown below:
Land, buildings, and
similar
rights
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¤ ’000
Gross cost of acquisition or production
Jan 1, 2007
22,902
Addition
839
Reclassifications
0
Disposals
0
Currency
translation differences
0
Dec 31, 2007
23,741
Addition to scope of
consolidation
1,822
Addition
122
Reclassifications
0
Disposals
0
Currency
translation differences
0
Dec 31, 2008
25,685
Depreciation
Jan 1, 2007
7,547
Addition
793
Reclassifications
0
Disposals
0
Dec 31, 2007
8,340
Addition to scope of
consolidation
798
Addition
817
Reclassifications
0
Disposals
0
Currency
translation differences
0
Dec 31, 2008
9,955
Net book value
Dec 31, 2007
15,401
Dec 31, 2008
15,730

Plant and
machinery

¤ ’000

Other fixtures
and fittings
tools and
equipment

¤ ’000

Advance
Total
payments
and assets 		
under construction

¤ ’000

¤ ’000

64,104
6,810
1,554
26

16,211
3,400
64
3,260

1,714
3
–1,618
0

104,931
11,052
0
3,286

0
72,442

-3
16,412

0
99

-3
112,694

129
4,907
99
17

1,025
3,347
0
5,365

0
407
–99
0

2,976
8,783
0
5,382

0
77,560

-42
15,377

0
407

-42
119,029

38,226
4,457
0
26
42,657

12,453
3,077
0
3,164
12,366

0
0
0
0
0

58,226
8,327
0
3,190
63,363

63
4,481
0
17

765
2,808
0
5,326

0
0
0
0

1,626
8,106
0
5,343

0
47,184

-34
10,579

0
0

-34
67,718

29,785
30,376

4,046
4,798

99
407

49,331
51,311

Tangible fixed assets include assets on the basis of finance leases in an amount of € 7.815 million
(2007: € 7.321 million), which refer to land, buildings and similar rights. The finance leases that existed
as of the balance sheet date refer to production and warehouse buildings.
Revaluations of fixed assets to IAS 16 were not effected.
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(2) Intangible fixed assets
The individual intangible fixed asset items and their development are shown below:
		
		

Gross cost of acquisition or production
Jan 1, 2007		
Addition		
Disposals		
Dec 31, 2007		
Addition to scope of
consolidation		
Addition		
Disposals		
Dec 31, 2008		
Depreciation
Jan 1, 2007		
Addition		
Disposals		
Dec 31, 2007		
Addition to scope of
consolidation		
Addition		
Disposals		
Dec 31, 2008		
Net book value
Dec 31, 2007		
Dec 31, 2008		

Lizences
Goodwill
Total
and
		
similar rights		
		
		

¤ ’000		

¤ ’000

¤ ’000

787		
180		
1		
966		

2,760
0
0
2,760

3,547
180
1
3,726

336		
230		
34		
1,498		

9,131
0
0
11,891

9,467
230
34
13,389

699		
70		
1		
768		

1,543
0
0
1,543

2,242
70
1
2,311

257		
109		
33		
1,101		

0
0
0
1,543

257
109
33
2,644

198		
397		

1,217
10,348

1,415
10,745

The Wallpaper Division and the Furnishing Fabrics Division, respectively, accounted for € 10.197 million (2007:
€ 1.066 million) and € 0.151 million (2007: € 0.151 million) of the goodwill totalling € 10.348 million (2007:
€ 1.217 million). Additions to goodwill are attributable to the takeover of MCF Investissements SA and SCE SA.
For details, please refer to the notes on company acquisitions (No. 30).
The goodwill was subjected to an impairment test. In this context, the value in use was determined as the
recoverable amount for the respective operation, i.e. the present value of the future cash flows from the operation.
The value in use was determined on the basis of the approved detailed budgets for the next fiscal year. The
cash flow used is the cash flow before interest and taxes less maintenance and replacement investments of
the next year, which was carried as a perpetual annuity. No growth rate was assumed in the calculation of the
perpetual annuity. For the purpose of discounting, weighted average cost of capital (before taxes) of 9.5% and
8.8% were applied for the Wallpaper Division and the Furnishing Fabrics Division, respectively. The value in use
thus determined exceeded the carrying amounts in both Divisions, which means that the impairment tests did
not provide any indication of an impairment loss.
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(3) Investments accounted for at equity
At-Equity accounted investments developed as follows:
				

2008

2007

				

¤ '000

¤ '000

Jan1, 2008				

0

0

Addition				

152

0

Changes affecting income				

-29

0

Changes not affecting income				

-18

0

Dec 31, 2008				

105

0

Pro-rata changes in equity

This item comprises the investment in OOO A.S. & Palitra. Given that the company was established
only in August 2008, its assets mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents.
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(4) Other assets
A breakdown of other assets by type and maturity is shown below:
Total
		

Remaining term
of up to 1 year

Remaining term
of over 1 year

31.12.08
€ ’000

31.12.07
€ ’000

31.12.08
€ ’000

31.12.07
€ ’000

5,743

4,199

5,159

3,895

584

304

948

833

648

491

300

342

6,691

5,032

5,807

4,386

884

646

Miscellaneous other assets
Deferred charges

31.12.08 31.12.07
€ ’000
€ ’000

Miscellaneous other assets include, among others, supplier credits.
(5) Income tax receivables
The non-current income tax receivables in an amount of € 2.004 million (2007: € 2.210 million)
refer to that portion of the capitalised corporate income tax benefit that will not be refunded in
the following year.
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(6) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets in an amount of € 0.513 million (2007: € 0.404 million) comprise realisable
future reductions in tax payments resulting from tax losses carried forward by domestic and
foreign subsidiaries in an amount of € 0.265 million (2007: € 0.404 million), deferred taxes resulting from differences between the tax balance sheet and the commercial balance sheet recognised
in accordance with applicable local regulations in an amount of € 0.163 million (2007: € 0.0 million)
as well as deferred tax assets recognised in equity on items that were recognized directly in
equity in an amount of € 0.085 million (2007: € 0.0 million).
Deferred tax liabilities of € 5.539 million (2007: € 4.703 million) include € -0.874 million
(2007: € -1.012 million) from differences between the tax balance sheet and the commercial
balance sheet recognised in accordance with applicable local regulations, € 5.904 million
(2007: € 5.139 million) from the adjustment of individual financial statements to IFRS and
€ 0.509 million (2007: € 0.576 million) from consolidation processes.
81
Deferred taxes refer to the following balance sheet items:
31.12.2008

31.12.2007

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
tax
tax
tax
tax
assets liabilities
assets liabilities
€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

€ ’000

0

7,703

0

6,859

Intangible fixed assets

25

0

34

0

Inventories

12

0

17

0

0

260

0

267

522

0

507

0

9

0

14

0

2,104

0

1,851

0

265

0

404

0

2,937

7,963

2,827

7,126

–2,424

–2,424

–2,423

–2,423

513

5,539

404

4,703

Tangible fixed assets

Trade receivables and other assets
Provisions for pensions
Other provisions
Other liabilities
Tax losses carried forward
Set-off*

* According to IAS 12, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should, under certain conditions, be offset if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.
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(7) Inventories
Inventories comprise the following:

Raw materials and supplies
Unfinished products
Finished goods and products

31.12. 08
€ `000

31.12. 07
€ `000

3,624

3,969

421

222

42,549

29,772

46,594

33,963

Inventories include € 4.741 million (2007: € 5.039 million) that are shown at the net realisable value.
(8) Trade receivables
€ 0.048 million (2007: € 0.062 million) of the trade receivables have a remaining term of more
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than one year.
The table below shows the allowances on trade receivables:
2008
€ `000

2007
€ `000

2,452

2,608

Allocation

383

228

Use

245

209

Release

297

175

88

0

2,381

2,452

As of January

Changes in scope of consolidation
As of December 31

Of the total allowances, an amount of € 0.564 million (2007: € 0.470 million) refers to allowances
for individual impairments and an amount of € 1.817 million (2007: € 1.982 million) refers to
allowances for collective impairments.
The table below shows the maturity structure of the receivables for which no allowances for
individual impairments were established as of the balance sheet date:
			Trade		thereof without allowances for individual impairments and
		
receivables
not
past due past due bet- past due betpast due
past due
within ween 91 and ween 181 and in more than
		
180 days
360 days
360 days
				
90 days

		

¤ `000			¤ `000		

¤ `000		

¤ `000

¤ `000		

¤ `000

As of 31.12.2008		
As of 31.12.2007		

40,886			36,220		
27,898			22,493		

3,728		
4,525		

211
337

80		
124		

32
31
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(9) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and credit balances at domestic and foreign
banks, as well as cheques and bills of exchange.
(10) Equity
For the composition of equity, please refer to the statement of changes in equity.
As of December 31, 2008, the capital stock amounted to € 9,000,000, divided into 3,000,000
no par value shares.
According to Article 4 paragraph 3 of the current statutes of A.S. Création Tapeten AG (as
amended on May 3, 2007) the Managing Board is authorised, subject to the approval of the
Supervisory Board, to increase the capital stock by up to € 4.500 million (so called authorised
capital) until April 30, 2012 through the issue of new shares against a contribution in kind or in
cash. Shareholders' subscription rights may be excluded in certain cases. Given that no use has
been made of this authorisation so far, the authorised capital amounted to € 4.500 million on
December 31, 2008.
Capital reserves include € 13.752 million in premiums from the issue of shares of A.S. Création
Tapeten AG and, in accordance with IAS 32, an equity share of € 0.005 million from the purchase
and sale of own shares.
Revenue reserves include inappropriate profits of the Group companies as well as changes in
equity from consolidation processes to IFRS not affecting income.
According to a resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated April 30, 2008, the
Managing Board is authorised to acquire own shares up to a par value of € 0.900 million (which
represents a maximum of 10% of the capital stock) until October 29, 2009. The Managing Board
is also authorised to cancel the shares acquired, to resell them, or to use the shares acquired for
company acquisitions or equity investments. Based on previous authorisations granted between
1999 and 2003, A.S. Création Tapeten AG repurchased 215,580 own shares. Another 28,069 shares
were acquired in the fiscal year 2008, which means that A.S. Création Tapeten AG held 243,649 own
shares in a nominal amount of € 0.731 million or 8.12% of the capital stock as of the balance
sheet. An offsetting item in the amount of the cost of acquisition of own shares was established,
which amounted to € 4.021 million.
A dividend of € 1.40 per share will be proposed for 2008.
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(11) Financial liabilities (interest-bearing)
The breakdown and remaining terms of the interest-bearing financial liabilities are shown below:
Total
		

Remaining term
of up to 1 year

Remaining term
of over 1 up to 5 years

Remaining term
of over 5 years

31.12.08 31.12.07 31.12.08 31.12.07 31.12.08 31.12.07 31.12.08 31.12.07
€ ’000
€ ’000
€ ’000
€ ’000
€ ’000
€ ’000
€ ’000 € ’000
Financial liabilities
(without finance lease)
Liabilities from
finance lease
Gross value
Discounting
Present value

84

35,140

12,717

9,507

939

11,927

5,928

13,706

5,850

8,748
–2,454
6,294

8,384
–2,597
5,787

776
–323
453

665
–310
355

3,035
–1,116
1,919

2,592
–1,080
1,512

4,937
-1,015
3,922

5,127
-1,207
3,920

41,434

18,504

9,960

1,294

13,846

7,440

17,628

9,770

The finance lease agreements include a purchase option at the end of the minimum term, whose
value at the time the option is exercised is usually lower than the asset's current market value.
The agreed purchase prices are therefore included in the minimum lease obligations.
Interest-bearing financial liabilities are subject to land charges of € 22.310 million (2007:
€ 22.310 million). Under a credit agreement signed in December 2008, A.S. Création has undertaken to register further land charges. This will happen in 2009.
Interest-bearing financial liabilities of € 41.434 million include € 32.762 million from credit
agreements at fixed interest rates and € 8.672 million from credit agreements at variable interest
rates. The breakdown of credit agreements at fixed interest rates by the remaining term and the
weighted average interest rates based on the book value is shown below:
Remaining term

Average
Interest rate
%

Book value
31.12.2008
€ '000

of up to 1 year

4.2

1,283

of over 1 year up to 5 years

4.3

16,971

of over 5 years

4.1

14,508

		

32,762
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(12) Other liabilities
The breakdown and remaining terms of the other liabilities are shown below:
Total
		

Remaining term
of up to 1 year

Remaining term
of over 1 year

31.12.08
€ ’000

31.12.07
€ ’000

31.12.08
€ ’000

31.12.07
€ ’000

6,262

5,391

6,108

5,242

154

149

Liabilities due to
social-securities

690

106

690

106

0

0

Liabilities due to
other taxes

604

451

604

451

0

0

1,282

1,041

1,282

1,041

0

0

Liabilities to
affiliated companies

0

58

0

58

0

0

Miscellaneous other
liabilities

7,858

2,220

7,507

2,161

351

59

16,696

9,267

16,191

9,059

505

208

Liabilities to
employees

Liabilities due to
bonuses/discounts

31.12.08 31.12.07
€ ’000
€ ’000

(13) Provisions for pensions
Pension provisions are recognised for current pension obligations as well as future old age,
disability and survivors' pension commitments. Commitments vary from Group company to
Group company depending on the legal and economic situation. The majority of Group employees
are granted a service-life-linked defined benefit pension plan related to a fixed monetary
amount. These performance-linked commitments are not financed via a pension fund or a
similar institution.
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The amount of pension provisions is determined using actuarial methods in accordance with
IAS 19 and equals the present value of future pension payments. For the majority of the
Group companies it is determined based on the following parameters:
2008
%

2007
%

Projected interest rate (discount rate)

5.75

5.00

Projected salary trend

2.50

2.50

Projected pension trend

2.00

2.00

Projected rate of fluctuation

5.00

5.00

For employees of German Group companies the assumptions for mortality and disability are based on
the RICHTTAFELN 2005 G from Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck.
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Pension provisions developed as follows:
2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

5,800

6,152

Use

258

234

Allocation/Reversal

-89

-118

Changes in the scope of consolidation

561

0

6,014

5,800

As of January 1

As of December 31

Pension provisions include € 0.297 million that will probably be paid out in the next fiscal year
(2007: € 0.254 million).
Allocations to and reversals of pension provisions were comprised as follows and are included in
the respective items of the income statement:
		
Income statement
				

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

Current service cost		

Personnel expenses

147		

163

Interest cost		

Financial result

284		

252

Actuarial gains from changes in the discount rate		Financial result

-633		

-631

113		

98

-89		

-118

Other actuarial losses		

Personnel expenses
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The table below shows the pension provisions and the actuarial gains and losses that resulted
from experience adjustments:
		
		
Pension provision as of December 31

2008
€ `000

2007
€ `000

2006
€ `000

2005
€ `000

6,014

5,800

6,152

5,996

112

-94

-68

-24

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) from
experience adjustments

(14) Other provisions
Other short-term provisions mainly refer to potential losses from pending transactions and warranties. Other provisions developed as follows:
2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

As of January 1

131

191

Use

122

182

Allocation

111

122

As of December 31

120

131

(15) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities to be disclosed amount to € 2.246 million (2007: € 4.594 million).
Of this amount, € 0.568 million (2007: 0.742 million) refer to car and IT leasing agreements,
€ 0.448 million (2007: € 0.617 million) to building rents and € 1.230 million (2007: € 3.235
million) to order commitments for investments in tangible fixed assets.
Of the financial liabilities under operating leases and building rents, € 0.537 million (2007:
€ 0.609 million) have a term of up to one year and € 0.479 million (2007: € 0.750 million)
have a term of over one year.
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Notes to the income statement
(16) Sales
A breakdown of Group sales by region is provided below:
Wallpaper Division
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Fabrics Division

Consolidation

Group

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

Germany

54,768

50,440

9,929

9,997

–217

–163

64,480

60,274

EU (excl. Germany)

54,501

55,318

3,465

3,445

–463

–272

57,503

58,491

European Union (EU)

109,269

105,758

13,394

13,442

–680

–435

Other Eastern Europe

57,269

49,314

1,617

1,477

0

0

58,886

50,791

Other countries

10,061

11,205

685

546

0

0

10,746

11,751

Sales (gross)

176,599 166,277

15,696

15,465

–680

Reduction in revenues

-14,821

-13,047

–578

–627

0

Sales (net)

161,778 153,230

15,118

14,838

–680

121,983 118,765

–435 191,615 181,307
0

–15,399 –13,674

–435 176,216 167,633

(17) Cost of materials
The cost of materials includes:

Cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies
and purchased materials
Cost of purchased services

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

97,938

92,072

1,322

1,527

99,260

93,599

(18) Other operating income
Other operating income includes, among other things, income from the release of allowances
on trade receivables and income from the release of obligations. It also includes income from
disposals of tangible and intangible fixed assets in an amount of € 0.047 million (2007: € 0.061
million).
The decrease in other operating income is attributable to an insurance claim in an amount of
€ 0.780 million that was included in the previous year’s other operating income.
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(19) Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are comprised as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security contributions and pension expenses

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

30,241

29,086

5,937

5,693

36,178

34,779

Social security contributions and pension expenses include contributions to state pension insurance
institutions in an amount of € 2.435 million (2007: € 2.233 million), allocations to pension provisions
in an amount of € 0.260 million (2007: € 0.261 million) as well as payments to external pension
funds and similar pension organisations due to contribution-based pension plans in an amount of
€ 0.117 million (2007: € 0.125 million).
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The Group employed on an annual average (full time equivalents):
2008
Persons

2007
Persons

Blue-collar workers

422

394

White-collar workers

259

247

38

34

719

675

Trainees and apprentices

As a result of the changes in the scope of consolidation, the headcount increased by 94 people as
of December 31, 2008. These employees are not included in the average figures for the year shown
above.
(20) Depreciation
A breakdown of depreciation is provided in the notes to tangible and intangible fixed assets (see
No. 1 and No. 2 above). As in the previous year, total depreciation of € 8.215 million (2007:
€ 8.397 million) does not include any unscheduled depreciation.
(21) Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses mainly include expenses on freight out, advertising, rental and operating
leases, maintenance and insurance policies. Moreover, they include losses from disposals of tangible and intangible fixed assets in an amount of € 0.005 million (2007: € 0.001 million).
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(22) Financial result
The financial result includes non-cash net interest income in an amount of € 0.349 million
(2007: € 0.379 million) from the change in pension provisions.
(23) Income taxes
Income taxes include the taxes on income and earnings paid or due in the individual countries as
well as deferred taxes. Income taxes are comprised as follows:

Current tax expenses
Deferred taxes
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2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

2,964

4,582

967

-3

3,931

4,579

At € 3.931 million (2007: € 4.579 million), effective tax expenses were down by € 0.017 million (2007: € 1.141 million) on the expected tax expenses of € 3.948 million (2007: € 5.720
million), which would have arisen based on the relevant German tax rate of 30.71% (2007:
39.28%). The difference between expected and effective tax expenses in the Group is due to the
following:
2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

Earnings before income taxes

12,856

14,562

Relevant tax rate

30.71%

39.28%

Expected income tax expenses

3,948	

5,720

-102	

-98

Reduction of deferred tax assets and liabilities to 30.71%

0

-1,132

Taxes unrelated to the accounting period

6	

8

-14	

-53

88	

93

-10

-30

15	

71

3,931	

4,579

30.58 %

31.44 %

Income from reimbursement of corporate income tax credit

Difference against foreign tax rates
Non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Other tax effects
Effective income tax expenses
Effective tax rate
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The corporate tax reform adopted in Germany in July 2007 led to a reduction in the nominal
income tax rates with effect from January 1, 2008. A.S. Création's tax rate, which is comprised of corporate income tax, trade tax and the solidarity surcharge, has declined from 39.28%
to 30.71%. The tax deferrals required under IAS 12 must be calculated at the lower tax rate
already in 2007 because of their reference to the future. This resulted in a reduction in
deferred tax assets and liabilities, which led to non-cash income of € 1.132 million in the
past fiscal year.
Income taxes in an amount of € 3.477 million (2007: € 4.614 million) were paid in the fiscal
year with an effect on liquidity.
(24) Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated as follows:
		
Number of shares outstanding (weighted average)
Net profit
Earnings per share

2008

2007

shares

2,773,542

2,784,420

€

8,924,879

9,982,188

€/share

3.22

3.59

The number of shares outstanding declined as compared to the previous year, as A.S. Création
acquired further shares in the context of the stock repurchase programme. For details, please
refer to the notes on equity (see No. 10 above).
Given that no stock options or similar equity instruments exist that may lead to a change in the
number of shares (so-called "capital dilution"), earnings per share represent both undiluted and
diluted earnings per share.
Complementary information
(25) Segment reporting
According to IAS 14, segment reporting must reflect the Group's internal organisational and
reporting structures. Based on A.S. Création's products and services, the corporate structure
comprises two segments, i.e. the Wallpaper Division and the Furnishing Fabrics Division. Prices
charged for intragroup deliveries and services are set in line with general market prices.
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A breakdown of key figures by segments is provided below:
Wallpaper Division

Consolidation

Group

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

161,641

153,118

14,575

14,515

0

0

137

112

543

323

–680

–435

161,778

153,230

15,118

14,838

–680

–435

EBITDA1

21,007

22,830

697

584

13

-12

21,717

23,402

EBITDA-margin

13.0%

14.9%

4.6%

3.9%			

12.3%

14.0%

EBIT2

12,920

14,555

569

-12

13,502

15,005

8.0%

9.5%

3.8%

3.1%			

7.7%

9.0%

12,527

14,330

316

-12

12,856

14,562

7.7%

9.4%

2.1%

1.6%			

7.3%

8.7%

23,689

10,805

204

443

0

-16

23,893

11,232

8,088

8,275

127

122

0

0

8,215

8,397

17,669

17,707

376

231

13

-12

18,058

17,926

149,247

109,971

7,917

8,739

–833

–1,071

26,519

17,018

1,876

2,651

–829

–1,054

27,566

18,615

646

606

73

69

0

0

719

675

External sales
Intra-Group sales
Total sales

EBIT-margin
Earnings before taxes
Return on sales (before taxes)
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Fabrics Division

Capital expenditures
Depreciation
Cash-flow
Segment assets3
Segment liabilities4
Employees (average)

462
244

13
13

2008
€ ’000

2007
€ ’000

176,216 167,633
0

0

176,216 167,633

156,331 117,639

A breakdown of Group sales by geographical areas is provided in the notes on sales (see No. 16.
above).
Of the Group’s assets in an amount of € 156.331 million (2007: € 117.639 million), € 118.142 million
(2007: € 112.547 million) refers to Germany, € 38.084 million (2007: € 5.092 million) to other EU
countries and € 0.105 million (2007: € 0 million) to non-EU countries.

1 EBITDA is the common international abbreviation of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation.
2 EBIT is the common international abbreviation of earnings before interest and taxes. It is equivalent to the segment
result defined in IAS 14.
3 According to IAS 14, segment assets are the total assets of the segment less interest-bearing loans, cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets and income tax receivables.
4 According to IAS 14, segment liabilities are the total liabilities less shareholders’ equity, pension provisions, deferred
tax liabilities and financial liabilities.
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(26) Research and development expenses
In the past fiscal year, € 2.238 million (2007: € 2.302 million) were spent on the development of
new designs.
(27) Auditing expenses
In the past fiscal year, € 0.145 million (2007: € 0.141 million) were spent on the auditing of the
financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements as well
as on the auditing of the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group auditor received € 0.037 million (2007: € 0.031 million) for tax consulting services and € 0.002 million (2007:
€ 0.002 million) for other consulting and auditing services provided in fiscal 2008.
(28) Risks from financial instruments
Only 20.9% or € 8.672 million of the interest-bearing financial liabilities represent variable-rate
loans. Most of the fixed-interest loans are medium-term or long-term loans (see No. 11 above).
This means that A.S. Création’s interest rate risk is manageable.
At the operating level, currency risks may occur whenever procurement and/or sales activities
are not financed in euros but in foreign currencies. Such foreign currency transactions are negligible in the A.S. Création Group, so that operations are not exposed to a material currency risk.
Due to the fact that A.S. Création is largely funded in euros, currency risks resulting from the
Group's financing activities are also negligible.
Due to the specific structure of A.S. Création, interest rate or currency hedges as well as financial derivatives play only a minor role. Such hedges are generally taken out only for specific
underlying transactions. One interest rate hedge (interest rate swap) existed on the balance
sheet date. This interest rate hedge was signed together with a long-term variable-rate loan.
Both transaction form an economic unit and thus represent a long-term fix-rate loan (synthetic
fixed rate loan). In this case, however, IAS 39 does not provide for the cash flows from the two
transactions to be offset against each other but requires a separate measurement of the interest
rate swap at market rates (hedge accounting). Accordingly, a negative market value (after deferred taxes) in an amount of € 0.191 million was recognised in equity as at the balance sheet date.
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Trade receivables are exposed to default risks, which relate to the creditworthiness of the
individual debtors. A.S. Création's risk policy aims to limit the inherent risk. The company
therefore uses available means such as credit insurance and bank guarantees to transfer the
risk to third parties. These instruments do not always make economic sense, as they entail costs,
and are not always available. Great importance is therefore attached to the monitoring of the
agreed payment deadlines and credit lines in the context of internal debtor management.
Despite these measures, not all default risks can be eliminated. The residual default risk is
mitigated by allowances on trade receivables. The potential effects which a default could have
on the net worth, financial and earnings position of A.S. Création can be assessed on the basis
of the concentration of debtors. In this context, A.S. Création has identified no potential risk
that could jeopardise its continued existence. Of the total trade receivables in an amount of
€ 40.886 million (2007: € 27.898 million), € 9.823 million or 24.0% (2007: € 7.073 million or
25.4%) were accounted for by the five largest debtors.
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In view of the high cash flow and the sound financial structure, financing and/or liquidity
bottlenecks are not expected. Unused credit lines amounted to € 8.288 million as of the balance
sheet date.
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(29) Additional disclosures on financial instruments
The table below shows the carrying amounts and the amounts recognised as well as the fair
values of the financial instruments:
Amount recognized Amount recognized Carrying amount
according to IAS 39 according to IAS 17		
31.12.08 31.12.07 31.12.08 31.12.07
¤ `000 ¤ `000 ¤ `000 ¤ `000

31.12.08 31.12.07
¤ `000 ¤ `000

Fair value
31.12.08 31.12.07
¤ `000 ¤ `000

Trade receivables

40,886

27,898

0

0

40,886

27,898

40,886

27,898

Other receivables

2,810

1,402

0

0

2,810

1,402

2,810

1,402

Cash and cash equivalents

3,641

4,000

0

0

3,641

4,000

3,641

4,000

Loans and receivables

47,337

33,300

0

0

47,337

33,300

47,337

33,300

Financial liabilities
(without finance lease)

35,140

12,717

0

0

35,140

12,717

34,860

12,007

Other liabilities

1,854

1,143

0

0

1,854

1,143

1,854

1,143

Trade payables

10,751

9,218

0

0

10,751

9,218

10,751

9,218

47,745

23,078

0

0

47,745

23,078

47,465

22,368

275

0

0

0

275

0

275

0

0

0

6,294

5,787

6,294

5,787

6,868

6,210

Financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost
Financial derivatives
Liabilities from
finance lease

Trade receivables, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents mostly have short remaining
maturities. As a result, the carrying amounts on the closing date approximate the fair values.
The fair values of the financial liabilities and the liabilities from finance leases are equivalent to
the present values of the payments under the underlying contracts. A current interest rate that is
geared to the prevailing market situation is used as a discount factor.
Due to the short remaining maturities of most of the trade payables and the other liabilities, the
carrying amounts on the closing date are equivalent to the fair values.
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(30) Business combination
On December 18, 2008. A.S. Création’s Wallpaper Division acquired majority interests in the
following companies:
•

70% of the shares in MCF Investissement SA

•

75% of the shares in SCE – Sociéte de conception d’édition SA

•

86% of the shares in SCE Investissements SC, which is a non-operating company

MCF and SCE are the leading wallpaper wholesalers in France, the largest wallpaper market
in Western Europe. A.S. Création previously had its own distribution company in France and has
strengthened its position in this important market as a result of the takeovers.
In view of the fact that the income statements of the acquired companies were of negligible
importance for the consolidated income statements for the fiscal year 2008 between December 18,
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2008 and December 31, 2008, it was decided to use December 31, 2008 as the date of first
consolidation in accordance with IAS 1. Accordingly, the acquired companies made no contributions to sales and earnings in the fiscal year 2008. If the companies had been acquired with
effect from January 1, 2008, they would have contributed € 41.781 million to sales and € 3.594
million to earnings before income taxes. The contribution to sales has been reduced by the sales
that A.S. Création generated from business with the acquired companies in the fiscal year, as
these sales would have been consolidated.
The total purchase price including incidential acquisition costs amounted to € 16.125 million.
Including the cash and cash equivalents of the acquired companies in an amount of € 1.397
million, the cash purchase price incurred by A.S. Création totalled € 14.728 million and is shown
as capital expenditures in the consolidated cash flow statement.
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The table below shows the total assets and liabilities acquired in the context of the takeovers:
		
		
		

Carrying
Adjustments
amounts		

Fair value

¤ `000

¤ `000

¤ `000

Tangible fixed assets

489

863

1,352

Intangible fixed assets

765

8,443

9,208

0

164

164

9,256

0

9,256

11,783

0

11,783

Other assets

1,460

0

1,460

Cash and cash equivalents

1,397

0

1,397

Totalling acquired assets

25,150

9,470

34,620

1,703

863

2,566

491

0

491

Trade payables

6,271

0

6,271

Other liabilities

4,127

2,200

6,327

Totalling acquired liabilities

12,592

3,063

15,655

Acquired net assets

12,558

6,407

18,965

0

2,840

2,840

Purchase price (including incidential acquisition costs)			

16,125

Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade receivables

Financial liabilities
Provisions for pensions

Shares of other shareholders

Given that the acquisitions were made late in the year, the purchase price could not be fully
allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities. Therefore, the total difference between the
acquisition cost and A.S. Création’s pro-rata share in the equity capital in an amount of € 8.443
million was temporarily recognised in the “goodwill" item under “intangible fixed assets” (see
No. 2 above).
The final purchase price allocation will be effected within 12 months from the balance sheet
date in accordance with IFRS 3. The reduction in goodwill and the commensurate increases in
other assets that are expected to result from this purchase price allocation will be shown as
reclassifications in fiscal 2009.
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(31) Managing Board
In FY 2008, the Managing Board was comprised as follows:
•  Jörn Kämper, Chairman, Sales and Marketing
•  Maik Holger Krämer, Finance and Controlling
•  Bernhard Wagner, Production
As of the balance sheet date, members of the Managing Board held 6,281 shares (2007: 1,755
shares) in the company.
(32) Supervisory Board
In FY 2008, the Supervisory Board was comprised as follows:
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Franz Jürgen Schneider
Chairman

Profession practised

Supervisory Board member

Businessman

–

Dr. Rüdiger Liebs
Lawyer
Vice Chairman
		
		

Deutsche Investitions- und Vermögenstreuhand AG (DIVAG),
Düsseldorf (Chairman)
Dierig Holding AG, Augsburg

Jella Susanne Benner-Heinacher

Lawyer and Managing
Director of the DSW e. V.,
Düsseldorf (a German
Shareholder's Association)
		

TUI AG, Hannover
K+S AG, Kassel

Peter Mourschinetz
Employee representative

Works council member
released from productive
working duties

–

Dr. Dieter Schadt

Businessman

Lufthansa Service Holding AG,
Kriftel

Rolf Schmuck
Employee representative

Works council member
released from productive
working duties

–

As of the balance sheet date, members of the Supervisory Board held 890.346 shares
(2007: 875,346 shares) in the company.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRs

(33) Compensation of Supervisory Board and Managing Board
The compensation of the Managing Board members in fiscal 2008 totalled € 2.323 million
(2007: € 2.276 million); the compensation of the Supervisory Board totalled € 0.081 million
(2007: 0.081 million). Details of the compensation of the Supervisory Board and the Managing
Board are presented in the audited compensation report on page 21 to 23 of the "Corporate
Governance Report" chapter.
No credit agreements with members of the Supervisory Board or the Managing Board existed
as of the balance sheet date.
Provisions for pensions for former members of the Managing Board and their descendants
amounted to € 1.418 million (2007: € 1.527 million) as of the balance sheet date. Pension
payments to former members of the Managing Board amounted to € 0.090 million
(2007: € 0.087 million).
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(34) Related party transactions
With the consent of the Supervisory Board, the company has signed an agreement on project
consulting and implementation with Franz Jürgen Schneider, Supervisory Board Chairman
and shareholder with 29.6% shareholding in A.S. Création, in order to use his long-standing
experience and his achievements in the wallpaper industry for the company. The remuneration
under this consulting agreement is based on market hourly rates against proof of hours actually
worked. In the fiscal year 2008, the fee for these consulting services amounted to € 0.124 million
(2007: € 0.142 million).
Franz Jürgen Schneider is Chairman of the Managing Board of A.S. Création Tapeten-Stiftung,
a charitable foundation established by him. In the past fiscal year, A.S. Création Tapeten-Stiftung
received a donation of € 0.034 million (2007: € 0.035 million) from A.S. Création Tapeten AG
in support of its work.
(35) Declaration of conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code
On March 5, 2008, the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board issued the declaration of
conformity for FY 2008 in accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act
(Aktiengesetz AktG), which has been made permanently available to the company's shareholders
on its website. The declaration of conformity for FY 2009 will be discussed and adopted at
the Supervisory Board meeting on March 4, 2009. This declaration will be published on the
company's website and in the "Corporate Governance" chapter of the 2008 Annual Report.

(36) Post balance sheet events
No events that require reporting have occurred.
The Managing Board of A.S. Création Tapeten AG has today released the consolidated financial
statements and the Group management report for being passed on to the Supervisory Board.
The latter has the task to review the consolidated financial statements and the management
report and to declare whether it approves the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report.

Gummersbach, February 23, 2009
A.S. Création Tapeten AG
The Managing Board
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Auditor´s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the A.S. Création Tapeten AG,
Gummersbach, comprising the balance sheet, the income statement, statement of changes in equity,
cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the
group management report for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2008. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the EU, and the additional
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch „German
Commercial Code“) are the responsibility of the parent company`s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management
report based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB
and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position
and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of
the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and
the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group
management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The
audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation,
the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements and group management report. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations.
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In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply
with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315 a (1) HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and
results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group management
report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Cologne, February 23, 2009
KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
(former KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
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Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft)

Clauss

Polewsky

Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant
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PROFIT APPROPRIATION PROPOSAL
Balance sheet of A.S. Création Tapeten AG according to HGB		
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Profit appropriation proposal			
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This English translation of the annual report 2008 is merely a convenience translation.
The German version is the prevailing one.
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Profit Appropriation Proposal

Balance sheet of A.S. Création Tapeten AG
according to HGB
as per December 31, 2008
Assets		
		
		

31.12. 2008
¤

31.12. 2007
¤

Intangible fixed assets		

146,805.02

190,397.89

Tangible fixed assets		

24,498,439.70

25,807,009.37

Financial assets		

19,632,522.62

7,980,600.14

		

44,277,767.34

33,978,007.40

Fixed and financial assets		

Current assets			
Inventories		

32,505,493.27

28,799,987.88

Receivables and other assets			
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Trade receivable		

23,761,136.08

22,334,325.22

Receivables from affiliated companies		

2,247,167.03

2,585,091.52

Other current assets		

7,265,677.32

5,968,294.84

			

33,273,980.43

30,887,711.58

Securities		

4,020,836.57

3,112,519.31

85,987.56

2,498,855.15

		

69,886,297.83

65,299,073.92

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges		

567,664.85

594,569.43

Total assets		 114,731,730.02

99,871,650.75

Cash and cash equivalents

Profit Appropriation Proposal

Equity and Liabilities
		
		

31.12. 2008
¤

31.12. 2007
¤

Shareholders' equity			
Capital stock		

9,000,000.00

9,000,000.00

Capital reserve		

13,752,488.72

13,752,488.72

Revenue reserves		

41,750,000.00

38,500,000.00

Unappropriated retained earnings		

6,948,718.59

7,754,445.96

thereof: profit carried forward		

(49,373.96)

(370,160.60)

		

net profit		

(6,899,344.63)

(7,384,285.36)

		

		

71,451,207.31

69,006,934.68

Provisions for pensions 		

4,809,349.00

5,017,839.00

Tax provisions		

33,000.00

33,000.00

Other provisions		

4,996,805.00

5,079,493.00

		

9,839,154.00

10,130,332.00

Liabilities to banks		

27,488,167.05

11,269,165.46

Trade payable		

3,444,012.04

7,563,622.50

Payables to affiliated companies		

0.00

58,068.00

Other liabilities		

2,509,189.62

1,843,528.11

		

33,441,368.71

20,734,384.07

Total equity and liabilities		 114,731,730.02

99,871,650.75

Provisions

Liabilities
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Profit appropriation proposal

The financial statements of A.S. Création
Tapeten AG for the year ended December 31,
2008 show unappropriated retained earnings
of € 6,948,718.59.
The Managing Board and the Supervisory
Board propose to the General Meeting of

Payment
of a dividend

3,858,891.40 €

Allocation to
revenue reserves

3,000,000.00 €

Carried forward
to new account
Unappropriated
retained earnings

89,827.19 €
6,948,718.59 €

Shareholders that the unappropriated retained
earnings should be used as follows: payment
of a dividend of € 1.40 per dividend-bearing

The General Meeting of Shareholders of

share and allocation of € 3,000,000.00 to the

A.S. Création Tapeten AG will be held in

revenue reserves of A.S. Création Tapeten AG.

Gummersbach on May 5, 2009. The dividend

The remaining amount is to be carried for-

will be payable on May 6, 2009.

ward to new account.
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As of December 31, 2008, 2,756,351 of the

Gummersbach, March 4, 2009

3,000,000 shares of A.S. Création Tapeten AG
were entitled to dividend. 243,649 shares

Jörn Kämper

acquired in the context of the stock repurchase

Chairman of the Managing Board

program are held by A.S. Création Tapeten AG.
Based on the number of dividend-bearing

Franz Jürgen Schneider

shares as of December 31, 2008, the profit

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

would be appropriated as follows:

CORPORATE CALENDAR

CORPORATE CALENDAR
March 12, 2009

Annual Report - Press conference

March 12, 2009

Analyst presentation

May 5, 2009

Interim report for the three-month period ended March 31, 2009

May 5, 2009

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

May 6, 2009

Dividend Payment

August 3, 2009

Interim report for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009

November 2, 2009

Interim report for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2009
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